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INDIAN MUTINY.

[THE SLAUGHTERHOUSE.

was at length announced, the larger portion
of the troops entered by a gate in the im-
mediate vicinity of the building called
the Subada Kothee, in which, as they then
supposed, some 200 women and children,
retained as hostages for the safety of the
rebel chief, were still confined. The steps
of the men were light and quick; for each
was panting for the moment that, by his
presence, would anmounce freedom and
safety to his imprisoned countrywomen.
Brave hearts were unusually elate that
morning ; and eyes glistened with cheerful
expectation, that were soon to be depressed
by a semse of overwhelming horror, and to
be dimmed by the tears of manly grief.
Eagerly they approached the building
pointed out to them as the place in which
their countrywomen and children would be
found ; but they approached too late! The
gates were thrown back, and they entered
an aceldama! Accustomed as those stern
men had been to scenes of blood and the de-
vastating ravages of war, the sack of towns,
and the carnage of the battle-field, the spec-
tacle that now met their gaze unmanned
the strongest in their ranks. Before them
lay a paved court, strewn with the wrecks
of women’s clothing and children’s dresses,
torn and cut inte ragged and bloody frag-
ments, as if hacked from the persons of the
living wearers ! gory and dishevelled tresses
of human hair lay trampled among the blood
that had yet scarcely congealed upon the
pavement{ Exclamations of horror subsided
into deathlike stillness, as the men rushed
across that slippery court into the building
before them. Traces of brutal violence, of
savage and ferocious murder, told in each
apartment the fearful history of the pre-
ceding night ; but not one living being was
there to disclose the awful secret yet to be
revealed, or indicate the spot in which the
survivors (if any there were) of an evident
massacre had sought refuge. At length the
fearful truth was realised : a huge well in
the rear of the building had been used by
the murderers as a fitting receptacle in
which to hide their martyred victims from
human eyes; and here, yet reeking with
blood, stripped of clothing, dishonoured,
mutilated, and massacred, lay the bodies of
208 females and children of all ages—the
dying and the dead festering together in
that hideous well! There lay the hapless

* See ante, pp. 237, 338.

+ Mrs. G. Lindsay.
Lindsay.

vol. I.

t Daughter of Mrs. G.
3c

mother and her innocent babe ; the young
wife aud the aged matron; girlhood in its
teens, and infancy in its helplessness—all—
all had fallen beneath the dishonoured
tulwars of the Mahratta destroyer, and his
fierce and cowardly accomplices in crime.

Upon the walls and pillars of the rooms
in which this astounding act of pitiless
barbarity had been perpetrated, were the
marks of bullets, and of cuts made by
sword-strokes—not high up, as if men had
fought with men, but low down, and about
the corners, where the poor crouching vic-
tims had been cut to pieces! On those
walls, in some places nearly obliterated by
the blood that yet clung congealed in all
directions, were discovered short scraps
of pencil-writing, and scratches upon the
plaster; and among these the following
sentences were yet legible :—* Think of us”
—“Avenge us”—*“Your wives and children
are here in misery, and at the disposal of
savages”—*“ My child! my child!” In one
apartment, carefully ranged along one
side, was a row of women’s shoes and
boots, with bleeding amputated feet in them |
On the opposite side of the room, the devilish
ingenuity of the mocking fiends was shown
in a row of children’s shoes, filled in a
similar way !

Upon searching among the sad memorials
of the unfortunate sufferers, several scraps
of paper, written upon, were found: all of
them were stained with blood. Two of
these relics appeared to be leaves from a
diary, and were evidently in the hand-
writing of two persons. The first has been
supposed to be part of a journal kept by
Miss Caroline Lindsay, eldest daughter of
Mrs. George Lindsay, named in the list of
Lieutenant Delafosse* as among the Cawn-
pore victims. This interesting record of
the dead comes down to the 12th of July,
and is as follows :—

“Mamma died July 12.t—Alice died July 9.5—
George died June 27.§—Entered the barracks May
21.—Cavalry left June 5.—First shot fired, June 6.
~—Uncle Willy died June 18.1 —Aunt Lilly,June 17.§
—Left barracks June 27.—Made prisoners as soon
as we were at the river.”

The other leaf contained the following
memorandum closely written, and partially
obscured by the blood profusely sprinkled
over it :—

“We went into the barracks on the 21st of May;

§ Son of Mrs. G. Lindsay, ensign 10th native

infantry.
| Major W. Lindsay. q Mrs. W. Lindssay.
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the 2nd cavalry broke out at two o’clock on the
morning of the 5th of June, and the other regiments
went off during the day. The next morning, while
we were all sitting out in front of the barracks, a
24-pounder eame flying along, and hit the intrench-
ment; and from that day the firing went on till the
25th of June : then the enemy sent a treaty which the
eneral d to; and on the 27th we all left the
. to go down to A. in boats. When we got to the
river the enemy began firing on us, killed all the
ntlemen and some of the ladies ; set fire to the
ats: some were drowned; and we were taken
prisoners, and taken to e house; put all in one
room.”

A memorandum in the Mahratta lan-
guage, of which the subjoined list of
names is a translation, was also found in.
this slaughterhouse. It purports to have
been made by some individual charged
with the custody of the victims of trea-
chery, and was probably a duplicate list of
persons for whom ke was accountable to
the insatiate demon by whom he was em-
ployed as gaoler :—

“ Mr.Greenway, Mrs. Greenway, Mrs.G. Greenway,
F. Greenway, Martha Greenway, Jane Greenway ;
Mr. Jacobi, Henry Jacobi, Lucy Jacobi, Hugh
Jacobi; Mrs. Tibbett; Miss Peter; Mrs. Cocks;
Mrs. Brothrick; Grace Kirk, Williem Kirk, Char-
lotte Kirk; Mrs. White; Miss Macmullen; Mrs.
Sinclair; John Greenway, Mary Greenway; Lizzie
Hornet; Mrs. Sheridan, W. Sheridan, Baby Sheri-
dan; Mrs. Wrexham, Clara Wrexham, Drummond
Wrexham; Eliza Bennett; Mrs. Probett, Stephen
Probett ; Catherine Willup, Jane Willup, Thomas
Willup; Mr. Reid, SBusan Reid, James Reid, Julia
Reid, C. Reid, Charles Reid, Baby Reid; Mrs.
Gillie ; Henry Brett ; Mrs. Doomey (?) ; Henry Dun-
can ; Mrs. Levy, James Levy, L. Levy ; Henry Simp-
son; Miss Colgan (?); . Keirseile (?), Mary
Keirseile, Willie Keirseile; Mrs. O'Brien; Mrs.
Green, Edward Green; Mrs. Crabb; John Fitz-
ﬁan.ld; Mrs. Jenkins; Mrs. Peel, George Peel;

rs. Moore; Marian Conway; F. C. Weston (?);
Mrs. Carroll; Mrs. Butler; Mrs. Johnson; Jane
Morpet; Mrs. Paterson; Miss Burn, Miss H. Burn;
Mrs. Dallas; W. O. Connor; Harriet Pistol (P);
Elizabeth Simpson ; George Casey, G. Casey; Lucy
Stake, William Stake; Joseph Conway; James
Lewis; Elizabeth West; W. Nock ; Henry Wat-
kins; Jemima Martindall; Weston Darden; Wil-
liam James ; Jane Gill ; James Conseus; Mrs. Peter,
James Peter; Mrs. Baines, Philip Baines; Mrs.
Harris; Mrs. Guthrie, Catherine Guthrie; Mrs.
White; Mrs. Wollen, Fanny Wollen, Susan Wol-
len ; M. Cooper; Mr. Carroll, Mrs. Carroll; two
syahs; Mrs. Sanders, William Sanders; Margaret

itsgerald, Mary Fitzgerald, Tom Fitzgerald, Ellen
Fitzgerald ; Mrs. Bell, Alfred Bell; Mrs. Berrill;
Mrs, Murray; Mrs. Jones; Mrs. Russell, Eliza
Russell ; Mrs. Gilpin, William QGilpin, Harriet Gil-
Pin, Sarah_Gilpin, Jane Gilpin, F. Gilpin; Mrs.
Walker; Mrs, Coymar; Emma Weston; Mrs.
Frazer; Mrs. Derby; Miss Williams; Mrs. Par-
rott; Mary Peter ; Arthur Newman, Charlotte New-
man; Mrs. Bowling; Mrs. Moore; Miss White;
Mrs. Probe,r;t.slohmm Probert, Willie Probert,

7

Emma Probert, Louisa Probert ; Mrs. Seppings (2nd
cavalry), John Seppings, Edward Seppings; Mrs.
Dempster (?), Charles Dempster, Willism Dempster,
Henry Dempster ; Miss Wallet (P) ; Mrs. Hill; Mrs.
Basilico ; Mrs. Lindsay (wife of Major Lindsay),
Frances Lindsay, Caroline Lindsay ; Mrs. Bcott ;
Mrs. Mackenzie; Mrs. Wallis ; David Walker; Lucy
Lyalls ; Mrs. Canter. Total, 163.

“ List of Futteghur fugitives, dated July 11th,
1857 :—Mrs. Woolyar, Ciarles ‘Woolyar, {'homu
Woolyar ; Mrs. Gibbon ; Miss Seth; Tucker
wife of Colonel Tucker), Miss Tucker, Louisa
ucker, George Tucker, L. Tucker, Sutherland
Tucker ; Mrs. ve, Mary Reeve, Catherine Reeve,
Ellen Reeve, Nelly Reeve, Jane Reeve, Cornelia
Reeve, David Reeve ; Mrs. Thomson; Mr. Thornhill
( judﬁ.of Futteghur), Mrs. Thornhill, Charles Thorn-
hill, Mary Thornhill ; Miss Long ; Mrs. Maltby (wife
of civil surgeon), Emma Maltby, Eliza Maltby;
Mrs. West (wife of European ghat darogah) ; three
natives ; Mrs. Fatman ; Mrs. Guthrie ; Mrs. Heath-
cote (wife of Lieutenant Heathcote, native infan-
m; Godfrey Lloyd, Baby Lloyd ; Colonel Goldie,

Goldie, Mary Goldie, Ellen Goldie; Colonel
Smith (native intantry), Mrs. Smith ; Mrs. Rees,
Eliza Rees, Jane Rees; Mrs. Lewis, Emma Lewis,
Eliza Lewis: total, #9.—Received (in charge?),
J;:ly }lth, 163 sick people; alse 49 from Futte-
ghur.

Thus, according to their own list, the
number of victims to the malignity of Nana
Sahib, upon this single occasion, amounted
to 210; Colonels Goldie and Smith having
been previously dispatched. These were
the only men enumerated, the other males
being evidently boys and mere infants.
From the overwhelming testimony that
establishes the otherwise incredible facts
recorded in the preceding pages, we shall
select the following as distinctly corrobora-
tive. Among the most positive evidence is
that of an officer in commaud of one of the
regiments which entered Cawnpore on the
morning of the 17th of July. This gentle-
man says—“I was directed to the house
where all the poor miserable ladies had been
murdered. It was alongside the Cawnpore
hotel, where the Nana lived. I never was
more horrified! The place was one mass of
blood. I am not exaggerating when I tell you
that the soles of my hoots were more ti;an
covered with the blood of these poor wretched
creatures. Portions of their dresses, collars,
children’s socks, and ladies’ round hats lay
about, saturated with their blood; and in
the sword-cuts on the wooden pillars of the
room, long dark hair was carried by the
edge of the weapon; and there hung their
tresses—a most painful sight! 1 have
often wished since that I had never been
there, but sometimes wish that every soldier
was taken there that he might witness the
barbarities our poor countrywomen had

- g —
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suffered.* Their bodies were afterwards
dragged out and thrown down a well out-
side the building, where their limbs were
to be seen sticking out in a mass of gory
confusion. Their blood cries for vengeance ;
and should it be granted us to have it, I only
wish I may have the administration of it.

“] picked up a mutilated Prayer-book.
It had lost the cover; but on the flyleaf is
written, ‘For dearest mamma: from her
affectionate Tom. June, 1845." Itappears
to me to have been opened at page 36,
in the Litany, where I have but little
doubt those poor dear creatures sought and
found consolation in that beautiful sup-
plication. It is here sprinkled with blood.
The book has lost some pages at the end,
and terminates with the 47th Psalm, in
which David thanks the Almighty for his
signal victories over his enemies, &c.”

A native resident of the city, who ap.
pears to have secured his own safety by an
ostentatious pretence of hatred to the
Europeans, while at the same time actually
sheltering two ladies from the vengeance of
the Mohammedan bloodhounds, related
some incidents of the deplorable catastrophe
to an officer of the avenging column, who,
in repeating the details, says—* Such were
the cries and agonies of the poor ladies,
that my informant shed tears when men-
tioning the circumstance to me, saying,
that such atrocious acts could not emanate
even from ferocious animals or wild beasts.
These foul and inhuman deeds did mot
end here; because on the next morning,
when they came to the bloody spot where
they had committed the cold-blooded mur-
ders, for the purpose of having the dead
bodies removed, they found a few wounded
ladies and a child, who were still alive,
whom they threw into a well with the
dead. Two causes are assigned for mur-
dering the ladies—first, the defeat of the
insurgents in an engagement which took
place near Futtehpore; and, secondly, the
detection of some letters which had been
sent by the ladies to Allahabad by some of

* The effect such a spectacle would have upon the
men, may be conjectured from the following circum-
stance, related on the authority of the Bombay Tele-
graph and Courter :—* On the arrival of the detach-
ment of the 78th highlanders at that ¢ place of skulls’
(Cawnpore), after the massacre of our countrymen,
women, and children, they by some mesns or other
found the remains of one of General Wheeler's
daughters. The sight was horrible, and aroused
them to that Pit.ch, that, gathering around, they re-

moved the hair from off the poor girl’s head, a por-
tion of which was carefclly selected and sent home

the spies who were apprehended and killed
on the 14th of July. A few days before
this, about seventeen European gentlemen
who were on their way from Furruckabad,
concealing themselves in some country
boats laden with grain, were arrested at
Bundeematta ghat, fourteen of whom were
killed immediately on their being brought
to Cawnpore ; three having been retained,
it was said, on promise of using their
influence with the British government to
have the forts of Agra and Allahabad evacu-
ated; but the story is not worthy of belief,
and must have been fabricated by the Nana
with a view to induce the people to believe
that he was to ohtain possession of those
places in a short time. Numerous false
proclamations were issued, by beat of tom-
tom, announcing the defeat of English
troops at Delhi, Bombay, &c., and such
other falsehoods. On the evening of the
16th of July a proclamation was published
in the city, that the Nana had gained a
complete victory, many of the British troops
having been killed, and others dispersed ;
but the falsity of this story soon became
known to the peuple, as in less than an
hour vast multitudes of the mutineers were
seen running away from the field of battle,
many bearing their arms and accoutre-
ments.”

The crushing intensity of the horrors
of that fearful night increased at every
step. One of the officers belonging to
General Havelock’s force, says—“1 have
seen the fearful slaughterhouse, and also
saw one of the 1st native infantry men,
according to order, wash up part of the
blood which stains the floor, before hanging.
The quantities of dresses, clogged thickly
with blood ; children’s .frocks, frills, and
ladies’ under-clothing of all kinds; also
boys’ trowsers, leaves of Bibles, and of
one book in particular, which seems to be
strewed over the whole place—called Pre-
paration for Death ; also broken daguerreo-
type cases only (lots of them), and hair, some
nearly a yard long; bonnets all bloody, and
to her surviving friends. The remainder they equally
divided amongst themselves; and on each man re-
ceiving his carefully served-out portion, they all
quietly, and very patiently, applied themselves to the
tedious task of counting out the number of hairs
contained in each individual’s lot; and when this
task was accomplished, they one and all swore most
solemnly by Heaven and the God that made them,
that for as many hairs as they held in their fingers,
so many of the cruel and treacherous mutineers
should die by their hands.” The anecdote borders

on romance, but it is doubtless based on fact,
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one or two shoes. I picked up a bit of
paper, with these words on it : ¢ Ned’s hair,
with love ;” and opened and found alittle bit
ticd wp with riband. The first fellows that
went i, I believe, saw the bodies with their
arms and legs sticking out through the
ground. They had all been thrown in a
heap in the well.”

Another writer says—“1 have been to
see the place where the poor women and
children were imprisoned and afterwards
butchered. It is a small bungalow close to
the road. There were all sorts of articles
of women and children’s clothing; ladies’
hair (evidently cut off with a sword), back-
combs, &c. There were also parts of reli-
gious books. Where the massacre took
place, it is covered with blood like a
butcher’s slaughterhouse. One would fancy
nothing could be worse than this; but in
the well at the back of the house are the
bodies and limbs of the poor things. I
looked down, and saw such a sight as I
hope never to see again. The whole of the
bodies were naked, and the limbs had been
separated. I thought of the two Mrs.
and the three poor girls, and felt very sad.
By all accounts, the women were so ill-
treated, that death—even such a death—
must have been welcome to them. I will
not enter into more details. I have told
you enough to cause you to make allow-
ance if I do write savagely. I have
lovked upon death in every form, but I
could not look down that well a second
time.*

Again, an officer of the avenging column
writes thus :—* On the morning of the 17th
of July, the force marched into Cawnpore.
Tle soul-harrowing spectacle which there
presented itself to them beggars descrip-
tion. The extent of the frightful catas-
trophe now became known. A wholesale
massacre had been perpetrated by the fiend
Nana S8ahib. Eighty-eight officers, 190
men of her majesty’s 84th foot, 70 ladies,
120 women and children of her majesty’s
32nd foot, and the whole European and
Cliristian population of the place—including
civilians, merchants, shopkeepers, engi-
neers, pensioners and their families—to the
number of about 400 persons, were the
victims of this Satanic deed. The court-
yard in front of the assembly-rooms, in
which Nana Sahib had had his head-quar-
ters, and in which the women had been
unprisoned, was swimming in blood. A
large number of women and children, who

380

had been ‘cruelly spared after the capitula-
tion, for a worse fate than instant death,’
had been barbarously slaughtered on the
previous morning—the former having been
stripped naked, beheaded, and thrown into
a well; the latter having been hurled down
alive upon their butchered mothers, whose
blood yet reeked on their mangled bodies.
We hear of only four who escaped—a Mrs.
Greenway (wife of a merchant) and three
Indo-Britons. The diary of a lady is said
to have been found at Cawnpore, written
up to the day on which she was killed, and
containing information of great importance,
on which the general is acting. We shall
eventually obtain full particulars of the
horrible tragedy that has been witnessed
there.”

An officer of the Madras fusiliers writes,
on the 18th :—* Only fancy our horror, on
hearing that the same night we gave them
such a beating at Futtehpore, they killed,
or rather massacred, all the ladies whom
they hitherto had spared in Cawnpore
(except five or six who were concealed by
their native servants.) Miss Wheeler (the
daughter of Sir H. Wheeler), they say,
killed five of these fiends with a revolver
before they could get near her. What an
heroic spirit she must have had! The
sight of the place where these poor ladies
were murdered is indeed awful. Long
tresses of hair—dresses covered with blood
—here and there a workbox or bonnet.”

The ayah to whose statement reference
has already been made, gives the following
account of the circumstances that im-
mediately preceded the final atrocity :—

“ Shortly after the mutiny at Allahabad, a
sowar came in, and reported that one of the
imprisoned ladies had written to Allahabad,
and that a large body of Europeans was
advancing upon Cawnpore. Then the Naua
gave the order to kill every one—to spare
no one. This took place on the 15th of
July; but the general, and others who were
brought back with him, were killed on the
2nd of the month. When the ladies heard
of the Nana’s order to kill them, they tore
their clothes, and with the shreds fastened
the doors.

“First the sowars killed the native
doctor, the cook, and the metranee. Then
one sowar jumped over the wall, and began
the slaughter ; other sowars came through
the doors, and all the prisoners were killed.
This was duly reported to the Nana, who
ordered the badies to he cast into a well;




A 1857 INDIAN

MUTINY. [MR. SHEPHERD’S NARRATIVE.

and the twenty-five women and children
who had remained alive, under the heap of
dead bodies, were killed by executioners;
and some of the little children were dashed
to pieces against the ground. This took
place early on the morning of the 17th of
July ; and in the evening the Nuua ran off
to Bithoor. Many wounded women were
thrown into the well with the dead bodies
and earth.”

An officer of rank (to whom reference
was made by one of our most distinguished
philanthropists, at a meeting convened for
the purpose of investigating the facts con-
nected with this dire tragedy) writes thus
to the relative of one of his deceased
brothers-in-arms :—* Upon my entry into
Cawnpore a few hours after the perpetra-
tion of the frightful massacre, to my un-
utterable dismay, I saw a number of Euro-
pean women stripped stark-naked, lying on
their backs, fastened by the arms and legs;
and there many of them had been lying
four or five days, exposed to a burning sun !
Others had been more recently laid down:
others again had heen actually hacked to
pieces, and so recently, that the blood which
streamed from their mangled bodies was
still warm. Children of ten, twelve, thir-
teen, and fourteen years of age, were found
treated in the same horrible manner at the
corners of the streets, and in all parts of the
town, attended by every circumstance of
insult the most awful and the most degrad-
ing, the most horrible and frightful to the
conception, and the most revolting to the
dignity and feelings of civilised men.”—It
would appear from this stateraent, thaf some
of the most hapless of their sex had been
brought out of the Subada Kothee to en-
dure indescribable outrage !

Among other authorities to whom re-
ference will be made for the details of the
monstrous and unparalleled atrocity to be
recorded, we again turn to the revelations
of Mr. Shepherd, whose narrative has
already thrown much light upon the earlier
scenes of the Cawnpore tragedy. It will be
remembered that this gentleman was taken
prisoner by the rebel emissaries of Nana
Sahib, as he left the intrenchment on the
24th of June, disguised as a native servant,
for the purpose of obtaining intelligence
that might be useful to General Wheeler.
The iucidents of his capture, and subse-
quent treatment by the rebels, have already
been detailed * and the following passages

® Sce ante, pp. 320; 333; 338.

close what may be considered his official
statement of the proceedings at Cawnpore.
Taking up the thread of Mr. Shepherd’s
history, we are informed, that for a short
period after Nana Sahib’s treacherous occu-
pation of the city, he took every means,
by proclamations and military displays, to
assure the inhabitants, and others who
flocked to the place for the sake of plunder,
that the rule of the Company was at an |
end, and that the English government was
not able any longer to resist the victorious
armies of the king of Delhi. “ He, how-
ever,” says Mr. Shepherd, ¢ soon found out
his mistake; for it was not long before in- I

timation was received of the arrival of a
British force at or near Futtehpore. Ten !
thousand troops were sent to meet it and
beat it back to Allahabad ; but the cowardly
wretches soon found out, to their cost, how
miserably inferior they were in courage to
the European soldiers. The result of the
fight is too well known to require repetition
here. Reinforcement after reinforcement
was sent by the Nana, but to no effect,
until at last he himself headed a fresh re-
inforcement, and proceeded to the seat of
war, which had approached within twenty
miles of Cawnpore; but on arrival, he found
his own courage no better than the rest of
the villanous rebels, and that there was
nothing better for him than to run for his
life. He did so, and with him the whole of
his boasting army. Ou his arrival at Cawn-
pore, the entire popnlation was so panic-
struck, that, leaving house and property,
every man that had a hand in the rebellion
took to his heels; and it is stated, that there
never was seen so great a flight as on that
occasion. People deserted their families on
the way to escape with their own lives.
From noon till midnight, nothing but im-
mense mohs were seen rushing away as fast
as possible towards the west. Some crossed
over to Lucknow from Bithoor ghat; others
went towards Delhi; and the most part of
the city people hid themselves in the neigh-
bouring villages, where they were nicely
robbed by the zemindars.

““ The sepoys are said to have been pos-
sessed of an immense deal of money, mostly
in gold mohurs, which they purchased at a
great premium—having paid as much as
twenty-eight or thirty rupees for one usually
of the value of twenty rupees. These men
paid a rupee a-head to the ferry to cross the
river, on the banks of which they pitched
away their muskets, coats, pung\loons, &e.,
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and dispersed in different directions into
the districts.

“Just after the defeat of the rebels at
Futtehpore, a few spies (whether real or
imaginary is not known) were brought to
the Nana as being the bearers of letters,
sup to have been written to the British
by the helpless women in the prison; with
whom some of the Mahaguns and Bengalees
of the city were believed to be implicated :
it was therefore agreed that the said spies,
together with all the women and children,
as also the few gentlemen whose lives had
been spared (said to be six in number, out
of seventeen officers who had been captured
about the 10th or 11th of July, on their
way by water from Futteghur to this, and
whose deaths were also delayed under pro-
mise of a ransom), shouldy all be put to
death ; and that the Baboos of the city, and
every person who could read or write Eng-
lish, should have their right hands and
noses cut off. The first order was carried
out immediately—i.e., on the evening of the
15th of July; and a decree was issued to
apprehend the natives, Baboos, &c., after
the Nana’s return from the field of battle,
where he proceeded, as described above, on
the 16th of July, after causing the murder,
on the 15th, of the English prisoners.

“The native spies were first put to the
sword, and after them the gentlemen, who
were brought from the outbuildings in which
they were confined, and shot with bullets;
afterwards the poor ladies were ordered
to come out, but neither threats nor per-
suasions could induce them to do so. They
laid hold of each other by dozens, and clung
80 close, that it was impossible to separate
or drag them out of the building. The
troopers therefore brought muskets, and
after firing a great many shots from the
doors, windows, &c., rushed in with swords
and bayonets. Some of the helpless crea-
tures, in their agony, fell down at the feet
of their murderers, clasped their legs, and
begged, in the most pitiful manner, to spare
their lives, but to no purpose. The fearful
deed was done most deliberately and com-
pletely, in the midst of the most dreadful
shrieks and cries of the victims. There
were between 140 and 150 souls, including
children; and from a little before sunset
till candlelight was occupied in completing
the dreadful deed. The doors of the build-
ing were then locked up for the night, and
the murderers went to their homes. Next
morning i;g;s found, on opening the doors,

that some ten or fifteen women, with a faw
of the children, had managed to escape from
death by falling and hiding under the mur-
dered bodies of their fellow-prisoners. A
fresh order was therefore sent to murderthem
also; but the survivors, not being able to bear
the idea of being cut down, rushed out into
the compound, and, seeing a well there, threw
themselves into it without hesitation; thus
putting a period to lives which it was impos- :
sible for them to save. The dead bodies of | '
those murdered on the preceding evening, |
were then ordered to be thrown into the
same well; and ¢ jullads’ were employed to .
them away like dogs. '
'Kt is too horrible to recount further on |
this subject. On the night of the 16th of |
July, the station was deserted by the rebels, |
as stated above, and early the next morn- |
ing the English troops took possession of
it; but not before the wretches had set fire |
to and blown up the magazine, which was '
done by the last guard left by the Nana, at
about 8 A.u.” 1
Upon the occupation of Cawnpore by
General Havelock’s force, Mr. Shepherd
was released from his fetters, and at the '
same time became aware of the full extent of .
his bereavement: the whole of his family
had been sacrificed—wife, children, nieces,
friends—all had perished within the walls |
of that charnel-house, now made sacred by !
the blood of martyrs. In the agony and
desolation of his heart, this mourner writes
from Cawnpore, on the 18th, thus :— |
“ Myown dearest brother,—God Almighty
has been graciously pleased to spare my
poor life. I am the only individual saved
among all the European and Christian |
community that inhabited this station. !
My poor dear wife, my darling sweet child .
Polly, poor dear Rebecca and her children, |
and poor innocent children Emmelina and
Martha, as also old Mrs. Frost and poor
Mrs. Osborne, were all most inhumanly
butchered by the cruel insurgents on the
day before yesterday, and thrown into a
well, together with a great number of other
ladies and children—reported to be about
160 in number. I am distracted. I am
most miserable and wretched. I am like
one in a dream. You could not recognise
me if you saw me. My life has been spared
by a miracle. The will of the Lord be
done. He alone can give me comfort; for
I am in a terrible state of distress of mind.
I will write you a detailed account of all
our sufferings and distresses—such distress [
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as has never before been experienced or

, heard of on the face of this earth. At

! present I cannot write, I cannot eat or
drink—TI am perfectly wretched. I escaped
only yesterday from my miserable prisoun,
where I had been confined, with heavy
fetters on my legs, for twenty-four days by
the rebels, who nearly took away my life;
but God alone prevented them, and spared
me. They gave me only parched grain to
eat daily, and that in very small quantities.
The English troops have come in and re-
stored peace. They have retaken Cawn-
pore. Their arrival here yesterday was the
means of my release.”

Mr. Shepherd then repeats much of the
foregoing details up to the time of the
evacuation of the intrenchment by General
Wheeler, and the promised departure of
the Europeans for Allahabad. He then
proceeds :—* Qh, how I felt when, in con-
finement, I heard that the English were
going in safety! I could not keep my
secret, and told the subahdar of the prison
guard that I was a Christian ; but I nearly
lost- my life by this exposure. However,
before the boats could be got away frum
the ghat, the wretches fired cannon upon
them, and upset some ; others they set fire
to. Only one boat, I am told, managed to
get away, but was afterwards picked up at a
short distance, and brought back. About
150 women and children, and about 100
European soldiers and officers, and men of
all classes, were taken alive. The former
were kept as prisoners up to the 16th of
July ; but the men (among whom was our
poor Daniel) had their hands tied behind
them, were killed with swords and muskets,
and thrown into a ditch. The women

| received parched grain for a few days, but

| afterwards they got dhall and chupatties in
small quantities. The rascals had bad mo-
tives for sparing them so long.

“ At the time of their being murdered (on
the 16th iust.), I am told that a number
jumped alive into the well that was intended
to receive their corpses, rather than be
butchered and insulted so unmercifully as
the hard-hearted brutes were using them.
Oh, when I think of it, how my heart
breaks., I get beside myself, and wish I
had not been spared to hear of such dreadful
accounts. Oh, my poor dear Polly! how
must they have killed you! So sweet a
child never existed. How can I ever forget

ou! The faces of all I have lost are ever

fore me, Oh, how dreadful is wy state

of mind! God Almighty have mercy on
me! Oh, God, he!p Thou me. whom Thou
hast spared |
¢ Thine affectionate, but miserable,
“H. J. SHEPHERD.

“P.S.—My infant was shot in the head
by a spent musket-ball on the 12th of June,
while we were in the intrenchments, and
died in great agony after forty-eight hours.
I was also wounded, on the 7th of June,
with a spent musket-ball in the back, and
very nearly lost my life; but I soon got
over it. The wound is now nearly healed.”

An officer describing the excitement and
indignation of his men during the actions
of the 16th, says —“ When they came to
Cawnpore, and entered the charnel-house,
there perused the writing on the wall, and
saw the still clotted blood, their grief, their
rage, their desire for vengeance knew no
bounds. One officer was met coming out,
with a small article of female dress dabbled
with blood in his hand. ‘I have spared
many men in fight, he said; ‘but I will
never spare another. I shall carry this
with me in my holsters, and whenever I am
inclined for mercy, the sight of it, and the
recollection of this house, will be sufficient
to incite me to revenge.” Stalwart, bearded
men, the stern soldiers of the ranks have
been seen coming out of that house of
murder perfectly unmanned, utterly unable
to repress their emotions. From them
there will be no mercy for these villanous
agsassins.”

The fate of Lieutenant Saunders, of the
84th regiment, was distinguished by the in-
domitable spirit of the victim, and the
merciless barbarity of his cowardly de-
stroyers ; and the fact, as stated, is worthy
the consideration of those who, in the face
of overwhelming and reiterated proof, affect
to disbelieve in the fiendish cruelty with
which this unnatural war has been carried
on by traitors and assassins. The lieute-
nant, it will be remembered, was one of
the officers included in the capitulation
of General Wheeler, and had embarked
with the rest of the Europeans, in the
boats provided for their conveyance to Alla-
habad.* The treachery attending that oc-
currence, and the subsequent relanding of
the survivors of the party, has already
been noticed: but the following incident,
descriptive of the innate malignity and
brutal ferocity of the followers of Nana
Sahib, deserves special remembrance. A

* See Lieutenant Delafosse’s list, ;gg, p- 337.




— — - =

CAWNPORE—THE INTRENCHMENTS.] IIISTORY OF TIITE

[a.n. 1857.

native cook-boy of the G. company, 56th
regiment (who, by some means, separated
himself from his rebel comrades, and re-
mained faithful to the Europeans, though
daily mixing in Cawnpore with the people
of his class, by whom his faith was not
suspected), relates, that when upon the
arnval of the betrayed officers and females,
&c., from the boats, Lieutenant Saunders
was brought before Nana Sahib, he pulled
out his revolver and shot dead five of the
sepoy guards: with his sixth round he aimed
at the Nana, but missed him, and was in-
stantly seized and overpowered. He was
thrown down upon some planks fastened
to the earth, and nailed to them ; his nose,
ears, fingers, and toe were then chopped
off; and he was left mutilated, bleeding,
and roasting in the sun until the next day,
when further and yet more horrible cruel-
ties were perpetrated, until death relieved
him from his unutterable agony. Such was
the fate of one of the heroic defenders of
Cawnpore—such one of the least of the
atrocities British soldiers in their might
were called upon to avenge.

The following passages from a communi-
cation by Lieutenant Mowbray Thompson
(named in the list of Lieutenant Delafosse
as wounded in a boat, but who fortunately
escaped from the slaughter of the 27th of
June by swimming down the Ganges), are
eminently entitled to notice, although the
incidents described are somewhat out of
place in the strict order of events con-
nected with the defence of the intrench-
ments. This gentleman, writing from Cawn-
pore on the 16th of August, 1857, has
furnished a most interesting narrative of
occurrences intermingled with that terrible
episode in the history of the Indian rebel-
lion that is associated with the Cawnpore
trugedy ; every act of which was distin-
guished by horrors that accumulated un-
til they reached a climax of infamy for
which there is no parallel but in the
monstrous achievements of ferocious malig-
nity that have characterised rebel valour
in India.

It is not necessary to follow Mr. Thomp-
son’s detail of events prior and subsequent
to the actual siege, as those facts have already
been referred to at length in the preceding
pages.* Adverting to the first canuonade by
the rebel sepoys on the morning of the 7th
of June, this gentleman says—* How thank-
ful I was, when once the firing commenced,

* Sce ante, pp. 315—336.
884

that I had no relations in the intreuch-
ments. Then it was that one heard hus-
bands and fathers cursing their stupidity
for not having sent away their families:
but of what avail was it their only now
having their eyes opened to their folly ? It
was too late. Wives saw their husbands’
bodies mutilated in the most awful manner
with round shot; and hushands saw their
wives suffering the most excruciating ago-
nies from wounds which they were unable
to heal. Then there was the screaming of
children after their dead parents. Poor
little things, how it unnerved one to see
them! But at last we got more accustomed
to the horrible scenes which were going on
around, till at last they hardly made any
impression.

“One scene I can never forget. A poor
woman, of the name of White, was walking
along the trenches with her husband, and
nursing her children (twins) in her arms.
Some fiend fired at them, killed the man,
and broke both the poor woman’s arms.
The children fell to the ground, one of
them wounded. Then followed a scene
which can only be imagined. Fancy the
poor woman throwing herself down beside
her children, and not being able to assist
them, on account of the wounds she had
received! Oh the agony of that mother!
Another woman, who was in a wretched
state bordering on starvation, was seen to
go out of the protection of the trenches
with a child in each hand, and stand where
the fire was heaviest, hoping that some
bullet might relieve her and her little ones
from the troubles they were enduring. But
she was brought back, poor thing! to die a
more tedious death than she had intendcd
for herself. Here you saw poor Mrs, W ——
hit by a ball in the face just by the nostril,
passing through the palate of the mouth,
and making its exit by the jaw; and by her
side you saw her daughter, who, although
she was badly wounded in her shoulder,
was doing all she could to alleviate the
sufferiugs of her unfortunate mother. Poor
creatures, they both died from their wounds |
Then you saw an unfortunate native servant
who had remained faithful to her mistress,
and was nursing her infant, under the pro-
tection of the walls of the barrack, as she
imagined ; but, all of a sudden, you saw
her knocked over, and the child hurled out
of her arms; and on inspection, you found
both her legs cut clean off by a round shot,
but the child was picked up uninjured.

—~— ~
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Many other such horrid scenes could I
describe ; but, judging from my own fecl-
ings on the subject, I know that I shall only
be stirring up in the minds of those who
may see this letter, a feeling for revenge
which can never be properly accomplished.”

With respect to the barrack hospital that
was set on fire by the red-hot shot fired
for the purpose, Lieutenant Thompson cor-
roborates the account we have previously
given. “ No arrangements had been made
in anticipation of such a monstrous act of
cruelty ; and all the wounded men and
others, that lay helpless under its roof, un-
able to move themselves, were burnt alive.
With the hospital, such as it was, all the
medicine chests and surgical instruments
were utterly destroyed; so that for those
afterwards wounded there was no remedy
but to die.”

Then came the offer of capitulation, the
treachery, and the successive massacres of
wounded men and helpless women and
children, already narrated in the preceding
pages.

It is time to turn from these harrowing
and heart-sickening details, to thiuk of the
retributive justice which already had crossed
the threshold of the blood-stained city,
and had stricken terror to the hearts of the
craven wretches by whom such horrors had
been tolerated, if not encouraged.

Upon the defeat of the rebel leader on
the 15th, he retreated hastily into Cawn-
pore, and, as we have seen, consummated
his infamy by ordering the destruction of
all that then remained of his female pri-
soners. Having accomplished this atrocity,
he withdrew to his fortified hold at Bithoor,
some twelve miles distant, on the Ganges.
Here, for a moment, he aflfected a vast
parade of his authority, causing a hundred
guns to be fired as a_salute in honour of
the king of Delhi; eighty guns in memory
, of the late Bajee Rao, his patron; and
. sixty for himself, on being placed upon his
throne; two salutes, of twenty-one guns
each, were also fired in honour of the wife
and mother of the traitor.

On Sunday, the 19th of July, the troops
in Cawnpore were warned for church
parade ; but, as they were proceeding from
their different quarters in the cantonment
for the purpose, orders were issued for an
‘immediate march to Bithoor. No time was
! wasted in unnecessary arrangements; and
. the earnest desire of every individual of the
| ‘orce to get within arm’s length of Nana
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Sahib, imparted strength and energy to the |
weakest. To their great disappointment, :
they arrived at the place without meet.
ing an enemy. The coward murderers had
deserted the fortified palace, leaving behind
them the whole of the guns, and a large
store of ammunition, collected for the
supply of the rebels ; fifteen pieces of heavy
cannon, and a number of elephants, bul-
locks, &c., fell into the hands of the pursu-
ing column ; and some of the female relatives
of the rajah, and women of his zenaua,
were also taken prisoners; but not a man
was to be found—a panic had seized both
leader and people; and, after spiking the
guns and dismantling the fortifications, a
sufficient guard was placed over the women
to protect them, and they were desired to
inform their master, that they were de-
tained as hostages by the Europeans; and
that any indignity offered to English fe.
males by, his orders, would be retaliated
upon their own persons.

The following despatch of the 20th of
July, furnishes the details of General Have-
lock’s victory of the 16th of July, in front
of Cawnpore :—

“ Sir,—I have the pleasure to announce,
that the triumph of the Mahratta pretender,
Nana Sahib, ndopted nephew of the late
¢ ex-Peishwa, Bajee Rao,” has been of short
duration. The treacherous proceedings by
which he compassed the destruction of the
force under the gallant Sir Hugh Whecler,
have already been reported to the com-
mander-in-chief.

“1 have now to announce the complete
discomfiture of his force, under his persoual
command, and the capture of his cannon,
followed by the reoccupation of this station,
which, since the 6th of June, he has heen
devastating and desecrating by every form
of cruelty and oppression. He filled up the
measure of his iniquities on the 15th; for,
on hearing that the bridge at the Pandoo
Nuddee was forced, he ordered the imme-
diate massacre of the wives and children of
our British soldiers still in his possession in
this cantonment ; which was carried out by
his followers with every circumstance of
barbarous malignity. My information was
in every respect good; and I ascertained
that he had takem up a position at the
village of Ahirwa, where the Grand Trunk-
road uunites with that which leads direct to
the military cantonment ot Cawnpore.
Ilis intrenchments cut and rendered im-
passable both roads ; and his ggsns, seven in
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number (two light and five siege calibre),
were disposed along his position, which
consists of a series of villages. Behind
these his infantry, consisting of mutinous
troops and his own armed followers, was
disposed for defence. It was evident that
an attack in front would expose the British
to a murderous fire from his heavy guns
sheltered in his intrenchment. I resolved,
therefore, to manceuvre to turn his left.
My camp and baggage were accordingly
kept back, under proper escort, at the
village of Maharajpore, and I halted my
troops there two or three hours in mango-
groves to cook and gain shelter from a
burning sun.

“My column then moved off, right in
front; the fusiliers led, followed by two
guns ; then came the highlanders, in rear
of whom was the central battery of six
guus, under Captain Maude. The 64th
and 84th had two guns more in their rear,
and the regiment of Ferozepore closed the
column. My troops, defiling at a steady
pace, soon changed direction, and began to
circle round the enemy’s left. They were
shrouded for some time by clumps of
mango ; but as soon as the enemy compre-
hended the object of their march, an evi-
dent sensatiou was created in his lines. He
pushed forward on his left a large body of
horse, and opened a fire of shot and shell
from the whole of his guns. But he was
evidently disconcerted by our advance on
his flank, and anxious for his communica-
tion with Cawnpore. My troops continued
their progress until his left was wholly
opened to our attack, and then formed line
and advanced in direct éckelon of regimeunts
and batteries from the right. A wing of
the fusiliers again covered the advance ex-
tended as riflemen,

“ The opportunity had arrived for which I
have long anxiously waited, of developing
the prowess of the 78th highlanders. Three

ns of the enemy were strongly posted

hind a lofty hamlet well intrenched. I
directed this regiment to advance, and
never have I wituessed conduct more ad-
mirable. They were led by Colonel Ha-
milton, and followed him with surpassing
steadiness and gallantry under a heavy fire.
As they approached the village they cheered,
and charged with the bayonet, the pipes
sounding the pibroch. Need I add that
the enemy fled, the village was taken, and
the guns captured. On the left, Major
Stirling, with the 64th, was equally success-

6

ful against another village, and took three
guns. The enemy’s infautry appeared to
be everywhere in full retreat; and I had
ordered the fire to cease, when a reserve
24-pounder was opened on the Cawnpore-
road, which cansed considerable loss to my
force; and, under cover of its fire, two
large bodies of cavalry at the same time
riding insolently over the plain, the in-
fantry once more rallied. The beating of
their large drums, and numerous mounted
officers i front, announced the definite
struggle of the ‘Nana’ for his usurped
dominion.

“I had previously ordered my volunteer
cavalry to adventure & charge on a more
advanced part of the enemy’s horse; and I
have the satisfaction to report that they
conducted themselves most creditably.
One of their number, Mr. Carr, was killed
in the charge. But the final crisis ap-
proached. My artillery cattle, wearied by
the length of the march, could not bring
up guns to my assistance; and the lst
Madras fusiliers, 64th, 84th, and 78th de-
tachments, formed in line, were exposed to
a heavy fire from the 24-pounder on the
road. I was resolved this state of things
should not last; so, calling upon my men,
who were lying down in line, to leap on
their feet, I directed another steady ad-
vance. It was irresistible. The enemy
sent round shot into our ranks until we
were within 300 yards, and then poured in
grape with such precision and determination
as I have seldom witnessed. But the Gith,
led by Major Stirling and my aide-de-camp
(who had placed himself in their front), were
not to he denied. Their rear showed the
ground strewed with wounded; but on
they steadily and silently came; then with
a cheer charged, and captured the unwieldy
trophy of their valour. The enemy lost all
heart, and after a hurried fire of musketry
gave way in total rout. Four of my guns
came up and completed their discomfiture
by a heavy cannonade ; and as it grew dark
the roofless barracks of our artillery were
dimly descried in advance, and it was
evident that Cawnpore was ouce more in
our possession.

“The points of this victory I shall have
afterwards to describe. The troops had
been thirteen hours in their bivonac, when
a tremendous explosion shook the earth.
¢Nana Sahib,” in full retreat to Bithoor,
had blown up the Cawnpore magazine.

“The first movements of the Mahratta
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indicated a determination to defend himself '
desperatcly. Reports from the front as-
sured us that he had assembled 5,000 men,
and placed forty-five guns in position for
the defence of his stronghold; but his
followers have since despaired, and I have
taken possession of Bithoor without a shot.
I was joined by the steamer Berkampoota
this morning, which is now in easy commu-
nication with me. I must reiterate my
obligations to the officers commanding my
detachments and batteries; to Major Ste-
pheuson, Madras fusiliers; Colonel Ha-
milton, the leader of my highlanders, who
had his horse shot; Major Stirling, 64th,
who is slightly wounded; Captain Currie,
84th, severely, I fear dangerously, wounded
(since dead); Captain Maude, artillery;
Captain Brasyer, commanding the regiment
of Ferozepore; and Captain Barrow, com-
manding my small body of horse. Lieu-
tenant-colonel Tytler’s zeal and gallantry
have been beyond all praise.

“It was my desire to have offered my
thanks in like terms to Captain Beatson,
deputy assistant-adjutant-general; but I
can now only record my opinion over .his
grave. He was attacked by cholera on the
morning of this fight; and though he did
his duty throughout it, and bivouacked with
the troops, he sunk in three days under
the violence of his disorder. Lieutenant
Moorsom, her majesty’s light infantry,
assisted in carrying my orders, and dis-
played great courage and much intelligence.
I have already mentioned the conduct of
my aide-de-camp in front of the 64th
throughout the fight; he was seen wherever
danger was most pressing, and I beg spe-
cially to commend him to the protection and
favour of his excellency the commander-
in-chief.

“1 enclose returns of killed, wounded,
and missing, and ordnance captured.

“1 have, &c.—H. HavELoCK,
 Brigadier-general, commanding Allaha-
bad Movable Column.”

The preceding despatch, with the casualty
returns, and lists of ordnance, &c., captured
in the actions referred to, were forwarded
to the governor-general in council, by the
commander-in-chief, with the following high
testimony to the valuable services of Briga-
dier-general Havelock :—

“Calcutta, July 31st, 1857.

“8ir,—I have the honour, by desire of
the commander-in-chicf, to forward, for
submission to the right honourable the gov-

ernor-general of India in council, two des-
patches received from Brigadier-general H.
Havelock, C.B., commanding the movable
column, dated the 15th and 20th of July,
giving an account of his engagemeénts with
the rebels under the Nana Sahib, at the
bridge over the Pandoo Nuddee, and at
the recapture of Cawnpore from the same
enemy.

“His excellency considers that the
greatest credit is due to the Brigadier-gen-
eral and to the brave troops under his
command. 'They have marched 130 miles
in eight days, at the most trying season of
the year ; fought three obstinately contested
combats, in each of which the insurgents
have been signally beaten; destroyed the
stronghold of that arch-fiend and traitor
the Nana Sahib, and captured forty-four
pieces of ordnance, many of which are of
large calibre.

‘“General Haveloek has, on many occa-
sions, handled his force with the ability
which might have been expected from his
well-won reputation as a brave, skilful, and
experienced soldier; and Sir P. Grant begs
to recommend him, and the several officers
he has specified in his despatches, to the
most favourable consideration of his lord-
ship in council; and his excellency desires
further to draw especial attention to the
glowing terms in which General Havelock
describes the excellent conduct, and gal-
lantry under fire, of the troops of all arms
serving with him in the field.—I have, &ec.,

“W. Mavuew, Deputy Adjutant-general.
“To the Secretary to the Government.”

The following general order was issued
to the troops on the 20th of July :—

“ Camp, Cawnpore, July 20th.

“The brigadier-general takes blame to
himself for not having yet noticed in orders
the gallant behaviour of the troops in the
two affairs of the 15th inst., and the victory
of the 16th. But he has in the meantime
sustained a heavy loss in the sudden death
of his deputy assistant-adjutant-general, and
his time has been preoccupied in prepara-
tions for the troops’ further cause of con-
gratulation.

«Cawnpore, won by Lord Lake in 1803,
has been a happy and peaceful place ever
since; uutil the wretched ambition of a
man, whose uncle’s life was, by a too indul-
gent government, spared in 1817, filled it in
1857 with rapine and bloodshed. When,
soldiers, your valour won the bridge at the
Pandoo Nuddee, you were signing the
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death-warrant of the helpless women aund! peans, and whose complicity in the treason-

children of your comrades of the 32nd;'

able designs of Nana Sahib had been

they were murdered in cold blood by the clearly established, manifested the utmost

miscreant Nana Sahib, whose troops fled in
dismay at the victorious shout of your line
on the evening of the memorable 16th.

“ Soldiers |
and more than satisfied with you. He has
never seen steadier or more elevated troops.
But your labours are only beginning.
Between the 7th instant and the 16th you
have, under the Indian sun of July, marched
126 miles, and fought four actions. But
your comrades at Lucknow are in peril
Agra is besieged. Delhi is still the focus
of mutiny and rebellion. You must make
great sacrifices if you would obtain great
results. Three cities have to be saved—two
strong places to be disblockaded. Your
general is confident that he can effect all
these things, and restore this part of India
to tranquillity, if you only second him with
your efforts, and if your discipline is equal
to your valour,

“ Highlanders! It was my earnest de-
sire to afford you the opportunities of
showing you how your predecessors con-
quered at Maida. You have not degene-
rated ! Assaye was not won by a more
silent, compact, and resolnte charge than
was the village near Jansemow on the 16th
instant.

“G4th! You have put to silence the
gibes of your enemies throughout India;

you reserved your fire until you saw the,
this

colour of your enemies’ moustachios:
gave us the victory.”

After the troops had effectually taken
posscssion of the city and cantonments,
Gencral Havelock signally avenged the
death of Sir Hugh Wheeler and his com-
panions in arms and in heroism. The
rebel sepoys and troopers captured alive
during the engagements of the 16th, were
cullectively tried by drum-head court-mar-
tinl, and hanged. Aware that they could
urge no plea for mercy, the men, with a
stoicism peculiar to their ideas of religion,
became at once resigned to an inevitable
fatc, and submitted, without an appeal, to
the ignominious death they had provoked
by their transcendant perfidy. The de-
meanour of many of these wretches when
in the unrelenting grasp of the provost-
wmarsha), has been described as worthy of
men suffering in a righteous cause. One
of the native magistrates of the town, who
nad taken an active part against the Euro-
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indifference when the sentence that con-
signed him to a felon’s death was pro-
nounced. Turning from his judges with

Your general is satisfied, | perfect cooluess and composure, he walked

towards the gallows on which he was to be
suspended, gazed with apparent indiffer-
ence at the preparations around him, and
preserved an unaltered and perfectly calm
demeanour while the hangman performed
his functions, and launched him iuto eter-
nity. Fortified by the assurances of his
creed, death to him was but a transition
from the hated association of infidel Ferin-
ghees, to the blissful enjoyments of a mate-
rial paradise, or to an incarnation that
would anticipate for him, by millions of
years, the fruition of supreme felicity.

On the 20th of July, General Havelock
reported by telegraph to the commander-
in-chief as follows : —

“ Nana Sahib’s followers appear to be
deserting him. He has fled from Bithoor,
which was occupied yesterday without re-
sistance. Thirteen guns were found in the
place. His palace is in flames. Brigadier-
general Neill joined me this morning with
227 men of the 84th.”

The same day, also, a telegram from
General Neill reported to the commander-
in-chief thus :—

“ Arrived here this morning with the
head-quarters of the 84th—all well. Found
the force crossing the river. General looks
well and in good spirits. Will get away I
hope to-morrow. He informs me he will
leave me in command here.”

Again, on the 2lst, General Havelock,
whose operations were now to be directed
to the relief of Lucknow, reported thus to
the authorities at Calcutta :—

“ Camp, Cawnpore, July 21st, 1857.

“I am free to cross the Ganges. Nana
Sahib’s force at Bithoor is entirely dis-
persed. We have brought from the place
sixteen guns and a quantity of animals:
set fire to his palace, and blown up his
powder-magazine. A portion of my troops
and five guns are already in position at the
head of the road to Lucknow. The diffi-
culties of a swollen, broad, and rapid river,
with only a small steamer and a few boats,
are not slight; but the whole army is full
of hope that we shall soon be united on
the left bank.”

On the 23rd and 24th, the troops con-
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tinued to cross the river into Oude; and on
the 25th, Brigadier-general Neill reported
by telegraph as follows :—

“] assumed command here (Cawnpore)
yesterday, on General Havelock crossing
over. I have at once set about re-estab-
lishing police, and our authority in bazaar

. and city ; promulgated government orders

for rewards for bringing in sepoys and pub-
lic property ; made Captain Bruce super-
intendent of police and intelligence depart-
ment, already with good effect; put a stop
to plundering: troop horses being brought
in —suggest all should be kept for goveru-
ment use only, and all horses (private pro-
perty of deceased officers) be taken by gov-
ernment at a fair valuation, for mounting
dragoons and horsing batteries: a strin-
geut government order should be issued
on this head to all forces, particularly to
General Havelock, where there is that dis-
position to plunder; a government order,
stringent, against plundering also : some of
the Nana’s correspondence got hold of, im-
plicating parties of the 17th regiment,
under Subahdar Bhoondho Sing (name
doubtful) ; destroyed boats here after Gen-
eral Wheeler and party embarked ; par-
ticulars will be sent. All Europeans—men,
women, and children—have been destroyed ;
the fate of four European men still doubt-
ful, and inquiries instituted. All well here.
I will hold my own against any odds. The
civil powers ought ta he ordered to take
possession of Futtehpore, and all the coun-
try between this and Allahabad, and re-
establish their authority.”

The following document is a translation
of a perwunnah of Nana Sahib’s, alluded to
in the preceding report of General Neill :—

“ Health and prosperity to Bhoondho
Sing, subahdar of the Barker (17th) regi-
ment *—Your petition regarding your ar-
rival with treasure, and your plan for the
seizure of certain sepoys who have ab-
sconded, has been received and read. The
Sirkar Maharajah Bulkish, or (doubtful)
Buhadoor, being pleased with your zeal
and bravery, has approved of your deeds
and your cleverness; and assuredly what
you have done is deserving of praise and
approval, and it was certainly proper that you
should do something to please your chief.

* This corps mutinied at Azimgurh on the 2nd of
June; ante, p. 207.

+ This must have been written on the 26th of
June, the day the terms of capitulation were ratified
by the oath of Nana Sahib.

“As to what you have written regarding
the sepoys, a good plan will be made about
them when you arrive here, because the
sirkar has got thirteen guns, &c., posted in
different places. Having devised measures
with you, the runaway sepoys will be
searched for and seized. At this time
there are absolutely no English troops
remaining here: they sought protection
from the sirkar, and said, ¢ Allow us to get
into boats, and go away: therefore the
sirkar has made arrangements for their
going; and by ten o’clock to-morrow these
people will have got into boats, and started
on the river.

“ The river on this side is shallow, and on
the other side deep. The boats will keep to
the other side, and go along for three or four
koss. Arrangements for the destruction of
these English will not be made here; but
as these people will keep near the bank on
the other side of the rver, it is necessary
that you should be prepared, and make n
place to kill and destroy them on that sidc
of the river, and, having obtained a victory,
come here. The sirkar is much pleased
with your conduct, and it is very con-
spicuous; and the English say that they
will go in their boats to Calcutta. Janduce,
trooper, who came from you, has also re-
ceived a perwunnah, and heen sent back.

«8 Zilkadeh, in the year 1273 Hijra, at
ten o’clock at night on Friday.”+

It will be seen, that upon Brigadier-gen-
eral Neill succeeding to the command of
Cawnpore, he lost no time in proceeding to
““get his house in order,” and he conse-
quently followed in the steps of his prede-
cessor with energy and decision. The
mutinous sepoys that fell into his hands
were simply hanged like dogs, and put out
of sight; but, for the miscreants who took
part in the outrages upon the unfortunate
women and children at the Subada Kothee,
a yet more ignominious and crushing retri-
bution was exacted, as the following extract
from a letter of General Neill will testify.
He says—“1 left Allahabad on the 16th,
and joined General Havelock’s force on the
21st, aud found poor Major Renaud had
been severely wounded. His horse was
first shot under him; a bullet then hit him
above the knee, forcing part of the scabbard
of his sword into the wound, and causing
much suffering. Amputation seemed to
afford great relief, and he appeared doing
well, when he suddenly expired, compara-
tively free from pain. He had done right
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well, and will be sincerely mourned in the
regiment (the fusiliers), in which he was
much respected and esteemed. Since ¥
arrived here, I have been hard at work to
get order re-established. I have now put a
stop to the plundering I found going on,
by reorganising a police. I am also col-
lecting ali the property of the deceased, and
trying to trace if any have survived ; but, as
vet, have not succeeded in finding one.
Man, woman, and child seem all to have
been murdered. As soon as that monster,
Nana Sahib, heard of the success of our
troops, and of their having forced the
bridge about twenty miles from Cawnpore,
he ordered the wholesale butchery of the
poor women and children. I find the
officers’ servants behaved shamefully, and
were in the plot, all but the lowest caste
ones. They deserted their masters and
plundered them. Whenever a rebel is
caught he is immediately tried ; and, unless
he can prove a defence, he is sentenced to
be hanged at once : but the chief rebels, or
ringleaders, I make first clean up a certain
portion of the pool of blood, still two inches

* Upon intelligence of this astounding atreit
being received in England, the indignation of all
classes of the people was excited to a painful degree.
The most absorbing feeling was, however, that of
sorrow for the unutterable and shameful wrong to

which our countrywomen and their children had
been exposed ; and among the first directions into

which the current of public feeling rushed, the idea !

of some endurable monument that should carry
down to the latest generations of mankind the
memory of Indian treachery and ferocity, was most
prominent. Various suggestions were offered for
the realisation of this idea; but those contained
in the two subjoined communications, appeared to
embody the most general view of the public, and to be
most deserving of attention. One individual, writing
upon the subject, says—* I travelled a few days since
with a gentleman, a retired officer of engineers, who
is a near relative of seven of the Cawnpore victims;
five of them were young ladies ; one of them was the
writer of that little chronicle of woe found amongst
the relies of the slaughterhouse, and over which
thousands of tears (not all feminine) have been shed
since then. Among many interesting things which
this intelligent man said, there was one which, it
strikes me, ought not to pass and Perish with a
casual railway journey. ¢They talk, he said, ¢of
raising a monument over that well. They don’t
understand the natives, or they would do nothing
of the sort. What does a Hindoo care for a marble
pyramid or obelisk? Now, what they should do is
this—build above that well a Christian temple, as
small as you like, but splendid, so that after-genera-
tions of Christians shall say to as many generations
of Mohammedans or Hindoos, * Look here! On this
spot ycur fathers wrought the blackest of their
deeds” to get rid of Christianity from India. See
what came of it! Christian rights are now cele-
brated, and Christian worship presented, on the very
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deep, in the shed where the fearful murder
and mutilation of women and children took
place. To touch blood is most abhorrent to
the high-caste natives; they think, by
doing so, they doom their souls to perdi-
tion. Let them think so. My object is to
inflict a fearful punishment for a revclting,
cowardly, barbarous deed, and to strike
terror into these rebels. The first I caught
was a subahdar, or native officer—a high-
caste Brahmin, who tried to resist my order
to clean up the very blood he had helped to
shed: but I made the provost-marshal do
his duty; and a few lashes soon made the
miscreant accomplish his task. When done,
he was taken out and immediately hanged,
and, after death, buried in a ditch at the
roadside. No one who has witnessed the
scenes of murder, mutilation, and massacre,
can ever listen to the word ‘mercy,’ as
applied to these fiends. The well of muti-
lated bodies—alas! containtng upwards of
200 women and children!—I have had
decently covered in and built up as one
large grave* I am in the intrenched
camp—a most miserable position. None

site of that well, and above the ashes of 200 mar-
tyrs!” That would be worth ‘100 missionaries.’
Surely, sir, to print this will be enough to commend
it to 10,000 minds as well worthy at least of a
thought. I believe that, whether the temple were
Episcopalian or Nonconformist, there would be
raised in a week, throuﬁhout London alone, the
entire expense that would be demanded by the
scheme. What an illustration it would be for
coming ages to witness of the sacred truth—¢He
maketh the wrath of man to praise Bim!”—The
other writer we have alluded to, observes—* It seems
to be generally felt, that a Christian church erected
over the well at Cawnpore, would be, at the same
time, a most appropriate memorial of the dead, and
a most striking lesson to the living. It is also felt
that its erection shoul] be a national act. But the

reponderance of any one denomination among us
is not sufficiently decided to entitle its forms of
worship to be considered national, nor will the pro-
posed church ever answer its full intention if 1t is
either Episcopalian or Nonconformist. What would
be the value or the effec. on the native mind of a
building on the very threshold of which either
Protestant or Roman Catholic must needs part com-
gany with his fellow, and go no further? There is

ut one remedy. I.et us for once have ‘a house of
prayer for all natiors.” None but Christians will go
there to pray. Nc¢ Mussulman or Hindeo will
choose that spot on which to offer his devotions.
But let no Christians be excluded through the
operation of sectarian distinctions. Let them enter
and depart when they will, stand or kneel as they
will, their devotion helped, perhaps, by the con-
sciousness that othors are praying around them, but
certainly not impeded by any compulsion to use
precisely the same words as their neighbours. By
grasping at too much we lose all. By insisting that,
whether liturgical or not, each man’s prayer shall be

|
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but Englishmen could have held it for a
day, and yet how nobly did poor Sir H.
Wheeler hold out here |”

Among other wretches who were drawn
from their skulking places by the vigilance
of the exasperated military police under Cap-
tain Bruce, and handed over to the provost-
marshal, was the individual through whom
the fatal orders of the Mahratta destroyer
were given to the murderers. This fellow
had been a native employé of the govern-
ment, -and, at the time of the revolt, was
acting as collector. TUpon the flight of
his new patron, his Hindoo cunning en-
couraged him to hope that he might elude
suspicion by affecting to remain in con-
cealment through a terror of the insur-
gents; but the eye of Justice was upon
him, and his subterfuge did not avail to
screen him from the fate he merited. After
this man’s identity had been clearly estab-
lished, and his complicity in directing the
massacre proved beyond all doubt, he was
compelled, upon his knees, to cleanse up a
portion of the blood yet scattered over the
fatal yard of the Subada Kothee, and, while
yet foul from his sickening task, hung like
a dog before the gratified soldiers; one of
whom writes:—** The collector, who gave the
order for the death of the poor ladies, was
taken prisoner the day before yesterday,
and now hangs from a branch of a tree
about 200 yards off the roadside. His
death was accidentally a painful one; for,
from carelessness, or perhaps design, the
rope was badly adjusted, and when the
fellow droepped, the noose closed over his
jaw: his hands then got loose, and he
caught hold of the rope, and struggled to
get free; but two men took hold of his
legs, and jerked his body until his neck
broke. This seems to me the just reward
he should have got on earth for his bar-
barity.”—Thus it is, that by the contempla-
but the echo of that of some leader, and put into
his mouth rather than proceeding fresh out of his
own heart in his own words, or no words at all, we
must inevitably exclude all but those of our own

rticular communion. To catch the contagion of a

evotional spirit, it is sufficient that the spirit be
there and obviously animating the worshippers—no
matter in what terms they express themselves, or
whether they all pray after precisely the same
fashion, or each in his own fashion as he would pray
in his own chamber. The great point is, that they
know that they are all praying to the same God
through the same Saviour. Nﬁlch of the worshi
in Roman Catholic churches is of this nature. Muc
of the worship in the temple at Jerusulem was also
of this nature. In this case, if ever, we might well
Le content with a broad instead of a narrow unity—

tion of horrors, men are made cruel; and
acts at which their nature would revolt
under other auspices, are looked upon as
justifiable and praiseworthy.

With a view to the identification of pro-
perty that had belonged to the unfortunate
victims of the wholesale butchery perpe-
trated at Cawnpore, General Neill directed
that all persons competent to recognise the
property of their deceased relatives or friends,
should be invited to do so; and to effect
this object, the following letter was addressed
by the superintendent of police to the con-
ductors of the newspaper press in all parts of
British India :—

¢ The Sufferers at Caunpore.—Sir,—I am |
desired by General Neill to request you will
have the goodness to make it as public as
possible that the property of the unfortunate
people who lost their lives here has been
collected in one spot, and that any which
can be recognised will be handed over to
the owners, or put up to auction for the
benefit of deceased estates, and the rest
sold. There is a good deal of property be-
longing to the different mercantile firms
here, as well as to the heirs of deceased
officers, &c. ; but when I mention that every
house was gutted, and the property scattered
over sixty or seventy square miles of country,
it will be apparent how impossible it was to
take care of individual interests. I would
recommend any one connected with Cawn-
pore, to appoint an agent upon the spot :
who can recognise the property, and he !
should be armed with authority to receive
charge of it. Almost all of the former
European residents here having been mur-
dered by the miscreant Nana Sahib, and no
one being forthcoming to recognise or give
any information concerning the property
that has been saved, it would aid us very
much were some European to return who
may be acquainted with the former resi-

8 unity contrasting us as Christians with Mussul-
mans and Hindoos, not as Christians with rival
Christians. Let us have at CawnFore simply a place
of prayer—no pews, no desks, no forms of worship—
no preaching, nor ministers of any denomination; a
cross, if you will, over the door, but nothing within
except a pavement on which man, woman, and child
alike may stand or kneel, and offer prayer, or thanks-

iving, or confession of sin to the God of all through
Eis Son Jesus Christ. As to the style and costliness
of the work, I will only add, that if we are going to
avail ourselves of @sthetics to make an impression
upon the natives, it ought at least to equal their own
great religious edifices; it ought at least to be worthy
of our countiy, though we can never make it worthy
of Him who will there be worshipped.”—Other suge
gestiona to the sap : effect were made.
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dents, or be able to point out the property
of different owners. I am desired to add,
that as far as can be ascertained, the only
Europeans who escaped are two officers and
two soldiers, who fled across the river, and
one pensioner of the 3rd light dragoons, who
was concealed by a trooper of the 4th light
cavalry in the city of Cawnpore. There are
six males, three females, and three children
with a petty rajah (of Kalpee) across the
Jumna, and every possible means are being
taken to recover them. The rajah of Kal-
ee treats these unfortunate people with
Eindness, and is disposed to restore them.
““The pressure of work is so great that it
is impossible to send copies of this letter to
the different presses in India, but General
Neill trusts all will aid him in making
public the information now conveyed.
«T am, Sir, your most obedient servant,
“ HerBERT Bruck, Captain,
“ Superintendent Police.
“ Cawnpore, July 31st.”

|
!

And here, for the present, we may fitly | |

close our revelations of the massacres of
Cawnpore.
grasp the purposes of Omnipotence, nor
may man dare to arraign the dispensations
of an All-wise Providence ; but there is much
in these harrowing details to shake weak
faith, and to inspire awe and wonder in the
firmest. A feeling more terrible than the
mere desire of vengeance, arises in the heart
when contemplating such barbarity; and
the most reverent Christians may shudder

It is not for the finite mind to .

when they are called upon to believe, that -

in the sight of the All-Wise, All-Beueficent,
such a terrible ordeal could have been
deemed necessary for the purification of His
creatures. The history of the world scarcely
affords a parallel to the frightful and cruel
outrages that, in the summer of 1857, cast
a stain upon the annals of British India, that
it will take oceans of tears, and ages of
humiliation and practical repentance, t
efface.

CHAPTER XXIL

THE CANTONMENT AT FYZABAD ; S8USPICIOUS CONDUCT OF THE NATIVE TROOPS ; ARREST OF MAUN 8ING ;
APPROACH OF THE AZIMGURH MUTINEERS; PROFESSIONS OF LOYALTY ; THE OUTBREAK ; THE EUROPEAN
OFFICERS PROTECTED AND DISMISSED ; DEPARTURE FROM FYZABAD IN BOATS; ATTACKED BY THE AZIM-
GURH REBELS ; ADVENTURES ON THE GOGRA ; THE NAZIM HOSSEIN KHAN ; ESCAPE OF COLONEL LENNOX
AND FAMILY; PRIVATE DETAILS; NARRATIVE OF FARRIER-SERGEANT BUSHER; LIST OF CASUALTIES ;
THE PRESERVED ; FRIGHTFUL SUFFERINGS OF A LADY AND THREE CHILDREN IN THE JUNGLE; THE
BLOODLESS REVOLT AT JULLUNDUR ; QUIET DESERTION BY THE TROOPS; NARRATIVE OF AN OFFICER;
THE MUTINEERS AT PHILLOUR; LETTER FROM UMBALLAH; MILITARY EXECUTIONS AT FEROZEPORE,
LOODIANA, AND PESHAWUR ; MURDER OF S8IR NORMAN LESLIE AT RHONEE.

ResumiNa the chronological order of events
connected with the insurrectionary move-
ments of the Bengal native troops, our
attention is directed to an outbreak at
Fyzabad, a military station in Oude, and
formerly the capital of that kingdom. The
town is situated on the south bank of the
Gogra, a tributary of the Ganges, and is
about eighty miles eastward of the modern
city of Lucknow, to which place the seat of
government was removed from Fyzabad by
the nabob, Asoph-ud-Dowlah, upon his ac-
cession to the musnud in 1775. Some
remains of the palace and fortress of the
native princes are yet visible at Fyzabad ;
and in the immediate vicinity of the town
are the %ién;-worn ruins of Ayodha, or

Oude (the ancient capital), which are still
esteemed by the Hindoos as sacred, from
being the abode of Rama, the site of whose
temple is still resorted to by pilgrims from
all parts of India. The native population
of Fyzabad is numerous; but consists
chiefly of the descendants of persons of low-
caste, who were forbidden to follow the
court and principal inhabitants upon their
removal to Lucknow.

At the end of May, 1857, the troops in
cantonment at Fyzabad, consisted of the
22nd regiment of Bengal native infantry,
under the command of Colonel Lennox;
the 6th regiment irregular Oude infantry,
commanded by Lieutenant-colonel O’Brien;
a troop of irregular cavalry, and a company
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of the 7th bLattalion of Bengal artillery,
with one horse battery of light field guns,
under the command of Major Mill, of the
Hon. Company’s artillery. This force was,
as usual, stationed in cantonments a short
distance from the town; and, until the
latter part of May, nothing had occurred to
excite suspicion of any 1ill-feeling toward
the Europeans, either on the part of the
troops or the inhabitants. The rajah,
Maun Sing, was upon amicable terms
with the officers and their families, and
mutual confidence appeared to exist.

At length, indications of a perturbed
spirit among the troops, who had been

visited by emissaries from some of the
| regiments in revolt, became manifest. The
' confidence between the European officers
and their men was shaken, and each party
eyed the other with suspicion and disre-
gard. This unpleasant state of affairs com-
menced several days before any decisive
step was taken, either on the part of the
troops or the authorities; but it became
daily more and more apparent that an out-
break would be inevitable. Anticipating
the crisis, an officer holding civil charge of
the Fyszabad district, made arrangements
with the rajah, Maun Sing, for the protec-
tion of the women and children of the
station: the charge was readily under-
taken; and there was every reason to be-
lieve it would have been faithfully observed.

The temper of the troops had become
excessively embarrassing to their European
officers, who were without any force upon
which they could rely for support in an en-
tteavour to re-establish the discipline of the
two regiments; and, in the midst of the
difficulty by which they were surrounded,
an order arrived from Lucknow, directing
the immediate arrest of their influential
friend, Maun Sing. This ill-timed step
was carried out by Colonel Goldney, the
superintendent commissioner of Fyzabad,
in opposition to the earnest remonstrances
and written protest of the assistant-com-
missioner, who, after the indignity had been
. perpetrated, obtained permission to release
the prisoner, just in time to ensure the
safety of the ladies and children, by sending
them, under his protection, to a fortified
residence belonging to him at Shahgunj.
Three ladies—Mrs. Coloncl Lennox, her
daughter (Mrs. Morgan, wife of Captain
Morgan, 22nd regiment), and Mrs. Major
| Mill—alonc remained with their husbands
| at Fyzabad,

3 E

} VOL. 1.

On the 3rd of June, it was reported to
the civil authorities, that the mutineers of
the 17th regiment from Azimgurh were
approaching Fyzahad ; and a council was at
once held with the officers in command of
the troops, that measures might be adopted
to meet the emergency. Colonel Lennox,
as senior in charge of the station, immedi-
ately summoned the officers commanding,
with their respective staffs, and the senior
native officers, to a conference, when the
latter declared themselves true and loyal,
and ready to act in resisting the advance
of the mutineers. Such precautions as
could now be taken were adopted for the
defence of the lines from outward attack,
although grave causes for disquietude, as

traitors within, still existed.

At length, on the 7ih of June, as the
mutineers had not yet arrived, and the
troops in cantonment expressed great im-
patience at being compelled to wait inac-
tive for them, it was proposed by Colonel
Lennox, that they should march out to a
village called Surooj-Khoond, about five
miles from the cantonments, and give
battle to the rehels. To this, however, the
native officers objected, alleging that they
had their families and property in the
lines, and there they intended to protect
both by remaining in the cantonments:
they declared they would render loyal
service, and would fight valiantly for their
lives, and for those belonging to them; hut
they were sure the men would not quit
the lines. At the close of this consuita-
tion, the native officers shook hands with
Colonel Lennox and his officers with appa-
rent cordiality, and left, saying, ® We are
all of one heart.”” Thus eided the military
council of the ¥th of June.

Towards evening of Monday, June the
8th, a messenger arrived at the cantonment,

early on the following morning ; and active
preparations were immediately made for
their reception. These will be best described
in the words of Colonel Lennox, who, in
his statement addressed to the adjutant-
general for the information of the com-
mander-in-chief, says—* Every officer was
at his post in the lines of the regiment,
myself at the quarter-guard, and the troops
by their arms. I'wo companies were told-

battery artillery, and every precaution was
803

regarded their safety from the attack of |

with intelligence that the mutineers of the l
17th regiment would march into Fyzabad

off for the support of the 13th light field |
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taken for defensive operations. At 10
P.M., an alarm was sounded in the lines of
the 6th irregular Oude infantry, and taken
up by the 22ud regiment of native in-
fantry ; the battery prepared for action,
loaded, and fusees lighted; when the two
companies in support of the guns imme-
diately closed in and crossed bayonets over
the vents, preventing the officer of the
artillery from approaching the battery.
This was reported to me by Major Mill,
commanding the artillery. I then went to
the guns, and explained to my men that
the bugle-sound was a false alarm, and
ordered them to return to their respective
posts, and leave only one sentry over
each gun. I then returned to the lines
of the 22nd, with a view to dismissing
that regiment. I found the light cavalry
had surrounded the regimental magazine,
in order, as they said, to protect it. It ap-
pears this was a preconcerted scheme; for
the 5th troop of the 15th irregular cavalry
sallied out, and instantly planted patrols all
round the lines. I again visited the guns,
but was refused admittance ; the subahdar
(the prime leader of the mutiny, Dhuleep
Sing) telling me it was necessary to guard
the guns, and he would take care of them,
requesting me to go to the quarter-guard
and take my rest, and that nothing should
happen to myself and officers so long as we
remained with the regiment : a guard with
fixed bayonets surrounded me, and escorted
me to my charpoy. The officers also of the
regiment were not allowed to move twelve
paces without a guard following them.
Several officers asked me leave to flee
away. I told them I had no power, and
that I was a prisoner as well as themselves ;
but if they would remain quiet in their
lines till daybreak, Dhuleep Sing would
give them an escort to the boats at Meerum
ghat, and send them off down the Gogra.
Two officers trying to escape were fired at
by the cavalry patrols, and brought back
into the lines. About sunrise on the 9th,
the officers were allowed to take to the boats,
myself and family alone remaining in can-
tonments. At 10 a.m., Subahdar Dhulecp
Sing visited me, having previously placed
sentries all round my bungalow. He stated
he was sorry for what had occurred, but
such was our fate, and he could not pre-
vent it ; that the rissaldar of the 5th troop
of 15th irregular cavalry was the leader,
but that not a hair of our heads should be
touched; and that he (the subahdar) had
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come to order us a hoat and get it prepared
for us, and he hoped we should pass down
the river in safety, for he could not be
answerable for us when the 17th native
infantry arrived at Fyzabad. We remained
in cantonments till 2 p.m., and during the
course of the day, the Moolavie who had
created a disturbance in the city of Fyza-
bad, and was confined in our quarter-
guard until released by the mutineers, sent
requesting my full-dress regimentals, which
were delivered up to him. He sent the
sub-assistant-surgeon of the dispensary to
assure me how grieved he was that I
should be obliged to flee, as through my
kindness he had been taken wmuch care of
while confined three months in the quarter-
guard of the regiment, and had been
allowed by me his hookah; at the same
time requesting me to remain, and he
would take care of me and my family.
The sub-assistant-surgeon begged me to
pardon him for obeying the orders of those
whom he now served; that times were
altered, and he must obey those who fed
and clothed him.”

The mutiny of the troops had now be-
come a fact established : the gaol guard had
left their post, and the mutineers had un-
disputed possession of the city and canton-
ments ; but, unlike their comrades in dis-
affection in many other places, the men of
the two infantry regiments ahstained from
offering violence or insult to their Euro-
pean officers. Not so, however, with the
troopers of the 15th irregular cavalry, who
held a council, and proposed to murder
every officer ; but were restrained by their
more moderate fellows, who, on the other
hand, informed their officers that they were
free to leave, and might take with them
their private arms and property, but no
public property, as that all belonged to the
king of Oude. They then placed guards
round the bungalows of the officers, to
cnsure their safety until they could leave,
and stationed sentries over the magazines
and public buildings; they also seut out
pickets from each regiment, to prevent the
townspeople and budmashes from plunder-
ing. The officcrs made a last attempt to
recall them to their duty by appeanng to
their loyalty, and the distinctions won by
both regiments, in well-fought battles, by
the side of their European comrades; but
it was of no avail—the men heard them
respectfully ; but when the officers had
finished addressing them, they stated that
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they were now under the orders of their
native officers; that the subahdar-major
of the 22und regiment had been appointed to
the command of the station; and that each
corps had appointed one of its own officers
to be chief, from whom only they could
now receive orders. '
Returning to the statement of Colonel
Lennox, who was still remaining with his
family in the lines; he says— The sepoys
guarding our house becoming riotous and
insolent for plunder, we deemed it prudent
to leave; and all being ready, we were
enabled to leave Fyzabad by boat at 2
o’clock p.M. In nearing Ayodha, we were
suddenly hailed by a cavalry patrol, whe,
after looking into the boat, suffered us to
pass on. We had not proceeded far when
another scout hailed us, ordering us to
bring-to, or we should be fired upon. He
also suffered us to pass; the sepoys with
us (Thacur Missir and Sunker Sing) ex-
plaining to the scout that we were sent off
by the rissaldar. At about half-past ten at
night we passed the camp of the 17th regi-
ment ; but in rounding a sand-bank, came
upon a picket of the mutineers, and were
advised by our sepoys and hoatmen to
leave the boat, and creep along the side of
the sand-bank, and that the boat should be
brought round to meet us. We accord-
ingly did so, and crossed the sand-bank,

.| being out nearly two hours: when the

boat came round at midnight, we crossed
over the river to the Goruckpore district.
In the morning, about daybreak, some men
coming down to bathe, told us that there
were men on the look-out for Europeans,
aud advised us to leave our boat as soon as
we could, and follow some six or seven
sahibs (officers) who, the day before, had
gone on towards Goruckpore. We were
about leaving the boat, when a party of
men came down and inquired who was in
the boat ; being satisfied by the boatmen,
they went away, and we then immediately
quitted the boat, leaviug our remaining
property, which the subahdar had directed
to be given us at Fyzabad, and which was
now plundered by the villagers.

“ We began our flight towards Goruck-
pore on foat, with only the clothes we had
on. Our ayah (woman-servant) and khit-
mulgur (table-attendant) accompanied us;
we stopped often under trees and at wells,
and had proceeded about six miles (it being
now ten o’clock), when we halted at a vil-
lage, and having got & dranght of milk, pre-

pared to rest during the heat of the day.
We were, however, soon disturbed ; for a
liorseman advanced over the country, armed
to the teeth, having a huge horse-pistol in
his hand, which he cocked, and levelling it
at my head, desired me to follow him to
the camp of the 17th native infantry, and
make no delay, for he was to get a reward
of 500 rupees for each of our heads. We
had uot retraced our steps for more than a
mile, when a lad joined us who was known
to the horseman, which determined the
Iatter to make wus quicken our pace.
The lad, however, persuaded him to let us
drink water and rest near a village; and
while so doing, he sent a boy to bring men
to our rescue. It appears that a nazim
(Meer Mahomed Hossein Khan) had a small
fort close by, about three-quarters of a mile
off. The nazim immediately sent out ten
or twelve foot-men armed, who, on coming
up, directed us to follow them, and also led
the horseman by the bridle, having dis-
armed him. One of the men sent out for
aur rescue greatly abused me; and looking
at his pistol and priming, swore he would
shoot those Englishmen who had come to
take away their caste and make them
‘Christians. About mid-day, we reached the
fortified dwelling of the nazim, and were
ushered into the place where he was hold-
ing & council. He bade us rest and take
some sherbet, assuring us that no harm
should happen to us; and he rebuked his
insolent retainer .for hinting that a stable
close by would do for us to dwell in, as we
should not require it long, he being pre-
pared to kill the dogs. The nazim again
rebuked him, aund told us not to fear, for
he would not suffer us to quit till the road
was open and we could reach Goruckpore
in safety. On the second day the nazim,
fearing that the scouts of the 17th would
give intelligence that Europeans were hid
in his fort, made us assume native dresses;
the zenana clothed my wife and daughter,
and the nazim clothed me. He then
dressed up a party in our English clothing,
and sent them out with an escort, about
nine at night, to deceive his outposts, and
also the villagers; they returned about
midnight in their proper dresses; and it
was supposed by all, except the confidential
persons of the nazim’s houschold, that he
had sent us away. We remained in cap-
tivity in rear of his zenana, in a reed hut,

nine days, treated kindly, having plenty of
food, and a daily visit from our keeper.
895
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“ The nazim personally visited the muti-
neers at Fyzabad, ta learn their plan;
which was to march to the attack of Luck-
now, and then proceed to Delhi. The first
time he visited the regiments at Fyzabad,
they inquired very minutely coucerning
certain Europeans he had harboured. The
uazim declared he had only fed and rested
threc Europeans, and then seut them an:
to this they replied—*‘ It is well ; we are
glad you took care of the colonel and his
faunily.’

“ After we had becn in captivity seven
days, the nazim came to me and said, he
had just heard that the collector of Goruck-
pore was at the station, and if I would
write a letter to him he would get it safely
conveyed, On Thursday, the 18th of June,
an alarm was given that an enemy was in
fuil force coming against the fort; my wife
and daughter were immediately hid in the
zenana, and myself hid in a dark wood
godown.) The horsemen, however, on
ncaring the fort, were found to be a party
seut by the collector of Goruckpore for our
rescue. The nazim furnished my wife and
daughter with palkees; and the rest of us,
on horses, left our noble and considerate
host at 11 A.M., and passing Amorah,
reached Captaingunge at 4 p.M., where I
found Farrier-sergeant Busher, of the artil-
lery, who also had been rescued from cap-
tivity by Mr. Pippy, with a guard of the
12th irregular cavalry. The next day we
wrrived at Bustee, and were hospitably re-
seived by Mr. Osborne, opium agent, and
his family, who gave us European clothing.
After remaining three days, we proceeded
to Goruckpore, thence to Asimgurh, thence
to Ghazeepore, and by river steamer to
C lcutta; when the medical board advised
that I should proceed to England for the
recovery of my health.

“ Throughout this severe trial, I have
found the promise fulfilled to me and my
family—* And as thy days, so shall thy
strength be.

“ W. Lennox, Colonel, Bengal Army.
‘ Calcutta, August 1st.”

Of the party of officers that lefs Fysabad
in the hoats at sunrise on the Oth of
June, we have several accouunts; the boats
baving separated, and each freight of fugi-
tives having its peculiar adventures. The
following appear to be the most distinctly-
marked portions of their narratives. One
officer writes thus :— After a long alterca-
tign gmongsg the mutineers, it was deters
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mined that the officers should be allowed to
go.
site Begumgunj they were seen by the 17th
regiment native infantry (mutineers from
Azimgurh), who gave chase, and here poor
Goldney, Bright, and a sergeant appear to
have been shot; Mill, Currie, and Parsons
drowned, having left the boats and at-
tempted to escape inland. The rest of the
party got to the Tehseeldaree of Kuptam-
gun), where they were well treated, and
received fifty rupees to prosecute their
journey to Goruckpore. At a bazaar on the
road called Mahadewa, a body of armed
men sallied forth, and, without the slightest
provocation, cut the unfortunate fellows to
pieces. Here English, Lindsay, Cautley,
Thomas, and Ritchie, with two sergeants,
fell. One artillery sergeant (Busher) alone
escaped. Another party—O’Brien, Gordon,
Collison, Anderson, and Percival—changed
their boat, and got a covered one at
Ajoodhia; they lay perdu, and were not
observed by the 17th regiment native in-
fantry. Hiding in the daytime and tra-
velling at night, they managed to reach
Gopalpore, in the Goruckpore district,
where a powerful rajah took them under
his protection, and forwarded them ta
Dinapore. A third party consisted of
Morgan and his wife, Fowle, Ouseley, and
Daniell. They were robbed, imprisoned,
and suffered great hardships—almost star-
vation; but they, too, eventually escaped.
I must now return to my own party. The
troops mutinied on the night of the 8th,
but did not come down to the city till the
morning of the 9th of June. Oir and
Thurburn slept at my gateway; Bradford,
being obstinate, slept at the Dilkoosha,
We had about a hundred armed invalids.
We tried to raise levies, and, with Maun
Sing’s co-operation, might have succeeded.
As it was, we falled. We collected 400 or
500 ; but the greater portion were rather a
source of apprehension, and I was obliged
to get rid of them.

“Daring the night of the 8th, the gaol
guard (6th Oude irregulars) and others
left their posts, and the mutineers sta-
tioned themselves so as to prevent all com-
munication through the city. I was unable
to warn Bradford. They came down upon
us in three divisions, with two guuns at.
tached to each; and, having no means of
resistance, we holted from my gateway to-
wards the Akburpore-road. We at first
inteuded to go to Shahgunj, but, fearing

They went off in boats; but just oppo- |

|
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the sowars, who were most bloodthirsty, I
i turned off as soon as we got out of sight,

and made for Rampore, but finally went to

Gowrah. I knew the zemindars well in

these parts. We changed quarters in the
~evening to a pundit’s at no great distance,
and thence went to Shahgun). We had at
that time the Azimgurh mutineers coming
on the Tanda-road, and those from Benares
on the Dostpore and Akburpore lines.
Bradford managed to get away on foot. I
had lent him my Arab for the flight, but he
could not find it. We were afterwards
told that these brutes of sowars followed us
as far as Bhadursa, but we saw nothing of
them.

“The day after we reached Shahgunj,
Maun Sing sent to say, that the troops
would not harin the ladies and children,
but insisted upon our being given up, and
were coming to search the fort; that he
would get boats, and that we must be off at
once. We were all night going across
country to the ghat at Jelalooden-nuggur,
during which time we were robbed by Maun
Sing’s men of almost all the few things we
hiad managed to take with us. The ladies
took some of their valuables to Shahgunj; of
course we had only the clothes on our
backs: however, we got off—first in two
boats, but afterwards in one—eight women,
fourteen children, and seven men. We
suffered great misery and discomfort. The
heat, too, was terrific. 'We were plundered
by Oodit Narain, one of the Birhur men;
and when they took Orr and me into one
of the forts, I fully expected to be polished
off; and all the ladies got ready to throw
their children into the river and jump after
them. However, God willed it otherwise,
and Madho Persad, the Birhur Baboo,
came to the rescue—entertained us hos-
pitably for five or six days, and then for-
warded us to Gopalpore, where we were
comparatively safe.”

Auother gentleman who shared the ‘perils
of the Fyzabad mutiny, says—* I remember
the officers in the two boats. I accom-
panied Licutenant Bright, 22nd native
wfantry ; Lieutenant Parsons, 6th Oude
irregulars; Lieutenant Cautley, 22nd native
infantry. Sergeant Busher, Sergeant-ma-
jor, Quartermaster-sergeant, 22nd native
infantry, and myself were in one boat;
Colonel Goldney, Lieutenant Currie, artil-
lery ; Lieutenant Ritchie, 22nd native in-
fantry ; Sergeant Edwards, and Sergeant:
major Matthews, in the sccond boat ; three

other boats followed behind. We waited
two hours for them, but, as they did not
come, we pushed off. As we were getting
into the boat we saw the sepoys of the 22ud
rushing towards the treasury; there were
about two lacs and 40,000 rupees in Cap-
tain Drummond’s house, where the treasure
had been placed. On reaching a place
called Begumgunj, about ten miles below
Fyzabad, we met some mutineers encamped ;
ut half-past one these men fired upon us;
there were 800 or 900 of them; about 100
men fired upon us when we were 600 yards
off. Colonel Goldney advised our pushing
off to the opposite bank of the Gogra; we
got on an island among some jhow fields.
The mutineers got into dhingies and fol-
lowed us; we made for the main boat from
the island ; there were about forty or fifty
vards of water between. Major Mill was
drowned. The sergeant-major, Lieutenant
Bright, and I were made prisoners, and
taken to the camp of the mutineers, who
were men of the 17th and 37th native in-
fantry and the 17th irregular cavalry. We
were taken before the subahdar command-
ing the rebels: I don’t know his name;
he was a Hindoo, and belonged to the 17th
native infantry. He was an old wan,
slightly made, about five feet eight inches
high, with gray hair, no hair on his face,
and dark complexion. He asked us who
we were: we replied. He then appealed
to the Mussulmans on the Koran, and to
the Hindoos on the cow, not to injure us,
and told us to go away. Two men of the
17th then stepped out and shot the ser-
geant-major and Lieutenant Bright. I
was rescued by an artilleryman, and was
hid in a serai at Begumgunj, and sent off
in disguise. While we were talking to the
subahdar, some fifteen or sjxteen of the
irregular cavalry, and ten or twelve sepoys,
went after the remainder of our party. We
heard firing across the river; the party
returned, and reported they had killed
Colonel Goldney and six other officers, and
that three had escaped. On arriving at
Tanda, on the 10th instant, I heard people
in the serai saying that six or seven officers
had been killed, and two or three were shel-
tered by some zemindars in the Goruckpore
district. After this I came vid Mattoopore,
Shahgunj, and Juanpore. Captain Reed,
deputy-commissary ; Captain A. P. Orr, as-
sistant-commissary ; Mr. L. O. Bradford,
ditto; and Captain Thurburn, reached
Rajah Maun Sing’s house, and he promised
397
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shelter and protection. When I was at
Mattoopore I heard that the above officers
were going down in boats, with their fami-
lies, escorted by some of the rajah’s guard.
At Tanda I heard that a Mr. Fitzgerald
(clerk in the deputy-commissioner’s office)
and Opverseer-sergeant Hurst, who were
escorting the families of some sergeants to
Allahabad, vi¢ Sultanpore, were killed, and
the women and children also murdered. I
do not know what has become of the
officers who were in the boats behind us
when we left Fyzabad.”

A great deal of the uncertainty that
might otherwise have existed as to the
ultimate fate of many of the fugitives, is
removed by the personal narrative of Far-
rier-sergeant Busher, of the light field bat-
tery, who left the station in one of the
boats on the morning of the 9th; and,
after many extraordinary deliverances, ar-
rived in safety at Ghazeepore on the 26th
of June. The sergeant’s statement com-
mences with the incidents of the 8th of
the month, and proceeds thus:—“On the
morning of the 8th of June news was
brought into the station, that the 17th
native infantry, mutineers of Azimgurh,
had encamped a day’s journey from Fyza-
bad, and intended marching into the station
the following morning. I received orders
from Major Mill, commanding the battery,
to send my family without delay to Shah-
gunj, and place them under the protec-
tion of Rajah Maun Sing, of that place. I
accordingly did so, sending along with
them the families of four other non-com-
missioned officers. In the evening, by
order of Colonel Lennox, commanding the
station, two companies of the 22nd native
infantry were ordered to support our guus,
and to take up their position, one on either
side of the battery, or a company on each
flank. This they did. The officers and
men—both Europeans and natives—re-
mained with their guns all ready for action,
when about 11 p.M. the alarm was sounded
in the lines of the 6th Oude irregular in-
fantry, on hearing which the golundauze,
or native artillery, immediately loaded their

¢ «In No. 1, or the first boat :—Colonel Goldney,
commissioner; Lieutenant Currie, artiller]{; Lieute-
nant Cautley, 22nd native infantry; Lieutenant
Ritchie; Lieutenant I'arsons, 6th Oude irregulars;
Sergeant-major Matthews; Sergeant Edwards, 13th
light field battery ; Sergeant Busher, ditto.—In No.
2, or second boat :—Major Mill, commanding 13th
light fleld battery; Adjutant Bright, 22nd native
infantry; Sergeant-major Hulme, ditto; Mrs. Hulme;
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guns with grape. While the portfiremen
were in the act of lighting the portfires, the
two companies of the 32nd, that were
placed on either side of the guns, rushed in,
with loaded muskets in hand, among the
artillery, and pointed them at the heads
of the golundauze. Colonel Lennox, and
the other officers of the 22nd native in-
fantry, were on the spot almost immediately
after the occurreuce, and tried, by every
persuasion, to get‘the men from the guns,
but to no purpose. About this time the
whole of the 22nd native infantry left their
lines, and advanced towards our position
shouting. On coming up they ordered us
(the Europeans) to quit this place, and said
the guns were no longer ours, but theirs.
We were escorted by a portion of the 22nd
native infantry to the quarter-guard of that
regiment, and kept there under restraint
till the following morning, when at break of
day we were escorted to the river-side, and
directed to enter some boats that had been
provided for us by the insurgents, and pro-
ceed down the river.

“While at the ghat, intelligence was
brought to our escort, that the mutineers
were helping themselves to the treasure.
This caused the escort to hasten back to
the lines as quickly as possible. Here I
will take the liberty to mention, that the
rissaldar of the 15th irregulars appeared to
be the moving man in the mutiny, and
undertook the general direction of affairs.

“When the escort left us we took to
the boats, four in number, but found them
without boatmen. However, as there was
no time to prooced in search of boatmen,
it was resolved that the hoats should be
manned by ourselves; so we got in, and, ns
far as my memory serves me, in the order
mentioned below.*

“In this way we dropped down the river
on the 9th, a little before sunrise. While
dropping down, a scpoy of the 23ud (Teg
Ali Khan), who had not joined the muti-
neers, was observed following in a canoe.
He hailed and requested to be taken with
the party. He was accordingly taken into
No. 1 boat. An hour or so after he was

Quartermaster-sergeant Russell, 22nd native infantry;
Bugler Williamson, 13th light field battery.—In No.
3, or third boat:—Colonel O’Brien, 6th Oude irre-
gulars; Captain QGordon, ditto; Assistant-surgeon
Collison, ditto; Lieutenant Anderson, 22ud native
infnnu'{; Lieutenant Percival, 13th light field bat-
tery.—In No. 4, or fourth boat:—Lieutenant Thomas,
22ud mative infuntry; Licutenant Lindsay, dittos
Lieutcnant English, ditto,”
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taken up he made himself useful in pro-
curing boatmen for Nos. 1 and 2 boats near
a village. After a little delay, which oc-
curred in procuring boatmen, we again pro-
ceeded, and in a short time boats Nos. 1
and 2 passed the town of Ajoodhia. This
was between 8 and 9 A.M.; boat No. 8 was
ohserved to put in at Ajoodhia, and No. 4
was lost sight of, having dropped far astern.
Nos. 1 and 2 proceeded on, and after leaving
Ajoodhia about three miles in the rear, put-
to to await the arrival of Nos. 3 and 4.
After waiting two hours, and seeing no signs
of the boats coming, we again proceeded on
for about nine koss (or eighteen miles) down
stream, when we observed what appeared to
be scouts running along the right bank of
the river, and giving notice of our approach.
We then suspected all was not right, that
we had been duped, and purposely led into
danger. On proceeding a little further we
distinctly observed a regiment of mounted
cavalry, and another of native infantry in a
body, at the narrowest part of the stream,
awaiting our approach. 'We had no alterna-
tive but to proceed on. When Nos. 1 and 2
boats arrived opposite to them they opened
a brisk fire on us. Sergcant Matthews,
who was one of the rowers, was the first who
fell, a ball having struck him at the back of
the head. Another ball struck my hat and
knocked it into the stream, sustaining no
injury myself. Those in No. 2 boat, about
100 yards behind, seeing our hazardous
situation, put their boat to at a sand-bank,
entirely surrounded by water. We in No. 1
then put-to also and went ashore, when
Colonel Goldney requested us to lay down
our arms and wait to see if we could come

. to terms with the mutineers, they directing
1 their fire on us (Nos. 1 and 2) the whole
. time.

Some boats with mutincers pushed
off from the opposite shore, and came to-
wards us. When about the centre of the
strenm they opened fire on us. Colonel
Golduey observing this, directed that those
who could run should, without any further
loss of time, endeavour to escape, remarking
that there was not even the shadow of a
chance of our meeting with mercy at their
hands, and at the same time added that he
was too old himself torun. We, now seven
in number, including Teg Ali Khan, took
Colonel Golduey’s advice, and hastened off,
taking a direction across the country. I may
here meution, that from this period we re-
mained in ignorance of the fate of Colonel
Goldney and those of No. 2 boat.

“ We now started, and continued running,
but did not do 80 long before meeting with
an obstacle which precluded our further
advance in the direction we marked out;
and this was the junction of two streams of
considerable width. While at a standstill,
and deliberating as to our future course, we
saw a number of men coming towards us,
whom we took for sepoys. All but Teg Ali
Khan and Sergeant Edwards jumped into the
stream, and thought to escape by swimniing
to the opposite bank. After swimming a
short distance, Teg Ali Khan called us and
told us to return, as they were only vil-
lagers. I, Licutenant Ritchie, and Lien-
tenant Cautley returned; but Lieutenant
Currie and Lieutenant Parsons got too far
into the stream, aud, in endeavouring to
return, were both drowned. I myself nar-
rowly escaped, having twice gone down,
but, through the timely aid of one of the
villagers, was safely got ont.

“We had no sooner got out of the water
than we were again alarmed at seeing a boat
full of people rounding a point, and thought
they, too, were sepoys. We now ran, aud
continued our course along the bank, not
missing sight of the stream, until we were
fairly exhausted. We then entered a pateh
of high grass growing at the river-side, or at
a short distance from it, and rested our-
selves,
time. While in our place of concealment, &
boy herding cattle caught sight of us, and

We missed Teg Ali Khaun at this |

Il

ran towards the river, and with his herd
crossed over, himself holding-on by a buf- '

falo’s tail.
informed the jemadar of his village of our
situation; for, shortly after, the jemadar came
down and called out to us, and told us not
to be alarmed, and that he would bring a
boat for us. 'This he did; and on reaching
his side of the river, he informed us that Teg
Ali Khan had reported all the particulars to
him, and requested that a party be sent in
search of us, and that the boy who had been
herding cattle brought him information of
where we were. This jemadar very kindly
took us to his hut, and entertained us as
hospitably as he could, supplying us with
provisions, and cots to lie on. We remained
under his protection till twelve o’clock ; and
as we had the light of the moon we recom-
menced our journey, and took the road for
Amorah, the jgmadar himself accompanying
us to the next village ; a little before entering
which we were surrounded by a party of
freebooters, who demanded money. We

On crossing over, it appears he |
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told them we had none; but this did not
serve them, and they satisfied themselves
by searching our persons. When convinced
we possessed nothing, they offered no moles-
tation, but allowed us to prosecute our
journey. On entering the village, the jema-
dar, who accompanied us, made us over to
a chowkedar, and directed him to take us on
to the next village, and leave us with the
chowkedar of it ; and thus we proceeded on
from village to village till we arrived at
Amorah. Here we were rejoiced to meet
the party who belonged to No. 4 boat, who
~ told us that as they could not get their boat
along they deserted her, and proceeded
across country. “We were glad to find that
these gentlemen had arms, for we who had
joined them had not even a stick. I must
not forget to mention that Teg Ali Khan
again formed one of our party, for we lost
sight of him crossing the river, where we
~experienced the kind treatment at the vil-
lage jemadar’s hands. We did not remain
" more than a few minutes at Amorah, as we
were anxious to renew our journey. The!
_tehseeldars, who at this-place gave us pro-
" tection, further aided us by giving each a
couple of rupees, and one pony to Lieutenant
Ritchie, and another to Licutenant Cautley,
for the journey. We again started (now at

‘ FYZABAD —MORE TREACHERY.]

7 a.m. of the 10th), taking the road to Cap-
taingunge, under the guidance of a couple
of Thannah burkandazes.

“We reached Captaingunge safely, and .
inquived at the Tehseeldaree if there were
any Luropean residents at Bustee, a place'
of some note; and were informed by the
jemadar that there were not, but were told
that he had received information that a
party of the 17th native infantry, with trea-
sure, had marched from Goruckpore, and
were en route to Fyzabad, having halted
at Bustee; and advised us not to take the
road to Bustee, but to go to Ghie Ghat,
where he said we should meet with protec-
tion, and get boats to Dinapore. The jema-
dar furnished us with five ponics and fifty
rupees, and put us under the protection of
three burkandazes, giving them directions
to proceed directly to Ghie Ghat. We ac-
cordingly started, and, after making about
eight miles, sighted a village (Mohadubbah),
which one of the burkandazes invited us to
go to, telling us that we could there rest
ourselves for a short time, and that he would
refresh us with sherbet. We agreed; and
this burkandaze who gave the invitation

| even Teg Ali Khan with me.

started off ahead, with the pretence of getting

ready a place of accommodation and the
sherbet. Nothing doubting that all was
right, we proceeded on, as we thought in per-
fect safety. On nearing the village this bur-
kandaze again joined us, and had some con-
versation apart with the two other men. On
our reaching it, we observed, to our horror,
that the whole village was armed. How-
ever, we made no remark, but passed through
it under the guidance of the three burkan-
dazes. On getting to the end we had to cross
anullah, or small stream, waist-deep in water.
‘While crossing, the villagers rushed on us,
sword and matchlock in hand. Seeing that
they were bent on our destruction, we pushed
through the water as quickly as possible,
not, however, without leaving one of our
number behind, who, unfortunately, was
Lieutenant Lindsay ; and him they cut to
pieces. On reaching the opposite bank the
villagers made a furious attack on us, lite-
rally butchering five of our party.

“T and Lieutenant Cautley then ran, and
most of the mob in full chase aftet us.
Lieutenant Cautley, after running about 300
yards, declared he could run no longer, and
stopped. On the mob reaching him, le also
was cut to pieces. After dispatching poor
Lieutenant Cautley,they continued the chase
after me: they ran but a short distance, when
finding that I was a long way off, they de-
sisted. Twas now the only one left,not having
I proceeded
on, and in a short time came to a village,
and the first person I met was a Brahmin,
of whom I begged a drink of water, telling
him I was much exhausted. He asked me
where I came from, and what had happened
to me. I told my tale as quickly as I could,
and he appeared to compassionate my case.
He assured me that no harm would come to
me in his village, and that, as the villagers
were all Brahmins, others would not dare
to enter it to do me any harm. He then
directed me to be seated under a shady tree
in the village, and left me. After a short
absence he returned, bringing with him a
large bowl of sherbet. This I drank greedily,
and was hardly done wheu he started up
and bade me rgn for my life, as Baboo
Bully Sing was approaching the village. I
got up and attempted to run, but found I
could not, and tried to get to some hiding-
place. In going through a lane I met an
old woman, and she pointed out an empty
hut, and bade me run into it. I did so, and,
finding in it a quantity of straw, I lay down,
and thought to conceal myself in it. I was
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not long there when some of Bully Sing’s
men entered and commenced a search, and
used their lances aund tulwars in probing
into the straw. Of course it was not lonz
before I was discovered. I was dragged out
by the hair of the head, and exhibited to the
view of the natives, who had congregatel
round him, when all kinds of abusive epi-
thets were applied to me. He then com-

i
!
| “After passing through each, Lis men
?

l me.
)
|

. manner passed through three villages, and

menced a march, leading me from village to
village, exhibiting me, and the rabblc at my
heels hooting at and abusing me.

used to stop and tell me to kneel, and then
to ask Bully Sing if they were to decupitate
His usual reply was, ‘ Not yet; take
him on to the next village” I in this
wag then taken to his own house. I was
led into the courtyard and put into the
stocks; this was about nightfall.  During
the night, T heard angry words pass be-
tween DBully Sing and his brother. I
could not exactly make out the particulars;
but I remember his brother tclling him to
beware of what he was doing, and that his
acts of this day would perhaps recoil npon
himself. However, the result of the quarrel
proved in every way beneficial to me; for,
about three in the morning, Bully Sing
came to me himself, dirccted my release
from the stocks, asked me if I should not
like to have something to eat and drink;
and his bearing towards me was entirely
changed, and different from what it had
b:en.

“The following morning a party made
their appearance, headed by a villain named
Jaffir Ali, whom I recognised as the person
who shot poor Lieutenant Ritchie the pre-
vious day, and also fired at me. Of -this
he made a boast to Bully Sing when he saw
me, and asked Bully Sing to make me over
to him, and that he would burn me alive.
He was told, in reply, that I should not be de-
livered over to any person, and to quit the
place. This rascal said my kismuth (fate)
was very good. I remained at Bully Sing’s
ten days, during which time I had uo
reason to complain of the treatment re-
ceived ; but this I mainly attributed to the
interference of his brother on my behalf.

“On the tenth day a Mr. Pippy sent a
darogah, with an elephant and an escort, to
take me to him. I was glad of the op-
portunity, and willingly accompanied the
party ; but it was not without some trouble,

darogah induced Bully Sing to let me go.
Previously to this, a Mr. Cook, indigo
planter, and Mr. Patterson, collector of
Goruckpore, made several attempts to get
me away from Bully Sing, but to no pur-
pose. I here offer my best and most
grateful acknowledgments to all these gen-
tlemen for their kind consideration and en-
deavours on my behalf. On joining Mr.
Pippy, I procecded with him to Captain-
gunge; and there, to my joy, I met Colonel
Lennox and his family. Here we remained
for the rest of the day and the night. The
next morning, I accompanied Coloncl
Lennox and family to Bustee, escorted Ly
a party of sowars. Here we wcre most
hospitably entertained by Mr. Osborne, of
the opium department. I shall not soon,
myself, forget this gentleman’s kindness, nor
that of Colonel Lennox to me, and here offer
to both my hearty and sincere thanks. At
Bustee we were joined by Teg Ali Khan,
who managed to effect his escape from the
onslaught at Mohadubbah. At Bustee we
halted two days, and in the evening pro-
ceeded to Goruckpore, thence to Azimgurh,
and from Azimgurh to Ghazeepore, without
anything further of note occurring. At
this station I arrived on the morning of the
26th, thankful to Providence for bringing
me safely through all my difficulties.”

Colonel Lennox, in a list of casualties
appended to his statement, enumerates the
following officers as among the victims of
this mutiny. He says—

“T believe the casualties of the Fyzabad officers
to be as follows :—Colonel Goldney, superintendent
commissioner of Fyzabad district, taken into the
camp of the 17th Bengal mutineers (afterwards
allowed to go away in one of the boats on the 9th
of June, and killed at Begumgunj); Major Mill,
drowned; Lieutenant Currie, ditto; Lieutenant Eng-
lish, murdered by the villagers of Mohadubbah;
Lieutenant Lindsay, ditto; Lieutenant Bright, taken
prisoner,in the camp of the 17th regiment (after-
wards embarked); Lieutenant Thomas, murdered by
the villagers of Mohadubbah; Lieutenant Cautley,
ditto ; Ensign Ritchie, ditto; Lieutenant Parsons,
drowned; Sergeant Hulme and wife, 22nd regi-
ment, taken prisoners into the camp of the 17th
regiment (ufterwards embarked); Quartermaster-
sergeant of the 22nd regiment, taken prisoner into
the camp of the 17th regiment (fate unknown) g

Sergeant Edwards, artillery, murdered by the vil-
lagers of Mohadubbah.”

On the 17th of June, the followirg
officers of the Fyzabad station arrived at
Dinapore by boat, and reported themsclves
to Major-general Lloyd, commanding tlhe
division—viz.,, Brevet Lieutenant-colonel

and a good deal of persuasion, that the
VOL. L. 3r

Charles O’Briecn, commandaut, 6th QOude
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irregular infantry ; Lieutenant W. R. Gor-
don, second in command; Ensign J. W.
Anderson, 22nd native infantry; Lieu-
tenant Percival, of the artillery ; and assis-
tant-surgeon J. B. Colliton. These gentle-
men occupied the boat No. 3, on Sergeant
Busher’s list, and are mentioned by him as
lost sight of at Ajoodhia.

The exact number of Europeans at Fyza-
bad, when the mutiny commenced, has not
been stated in any official document; but
that many families were there is very
evident, from occasional reports that have
been made public. Thus one writer, dating
on the 22nd of June, says—* We are now
with a friendly rajah at Gopalpore, on the
river, twenty-five miles from Goruckpore.
He has promised to send us to Dinapore,
which is distant 120 miles. I believe we
are now quite safe, though we have been in
danger, and suffered much discomfort and
misery. Our party consists of Captain and
Mrs. Reed and two children ; Captain and
Mrs. Orr and sister, and five children;
Captain aud Mrs. Thurburn and one child ;
Captain aud Mrs. Dawson and four chil-
dren; Mr. and Mrs, Bradford; Mr. and
Mrs. Fitzgerald and child; and Mr. and
Mrs. Hurst and child.”—Another corres-

ondent, on the 24th, writing from Allaha-
End, says—*“Mrs. Black, Mrs. Goldney,
and Mrs. Strahan, have been brought into
Allahabad by that noble fellow, Ajeet Sing,
who saw Lieutenant Grant, and the party of
thirty-seven Europeans that accompanied
him, from his camp near Fyzabad.”

An officer of the 22nd regiment, whose
name has not transpired, says, in a letter
from Gopalpore on the 15th of June:—
“T have ouly a few minutes to write and
tell you that, by the mercy of God, I
am all right. On Monday night last I
had, with all the officers of the regiment,
to run away to save our lives. We got
into an open boat, and tried to work
our way down to Dinapore; but we have
been hunted like dogs, aud have twice been
taken prisoners, and robbed of everything
we had. I have hardly a thing left, except
the shirt and trowsers { have on, and which
1 have not taken off for seven days. The
rajah has taken compassion on us, and is
going to send us to Dinapore.”

Of any others of the unfortunate Euro-
pean community at Fyzgbad, there does not
exist an account that can be relied on,
with the exception of the following, which
is contained in a letter from the Rev. H.
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Stern, of the Church Missionary Society,
stationed at Goruckpore, who, on the 3rd
of August, writes thus:—“ Two gentlemen
and a lady, with two children, are in my
house. This poor lady is Mrs. Mill, fugi-
tive from Fyzabad. Her husband, Major
Mill, is one of those who was murdered in
this district; however, she has still some
hope of his being alive. This poor lady was
wandering about in the district for a fort-
night, with her three children, one of whom
died since she came here. She has suffered
awful hardships and privations, and was
obliged to beg her bread in the villages. I
am thankful to say that she is rccovering
and gaining strength. Other fugitives are
brought in; among them five womeu and
seven children, one of whom was born on
the road during the flight.”

How far the indignity offered to Maun
Sing, at the very moment his good offices
were most essential and were relied upon
for the protection of the females and chil-
dren, may have contributed to increase the
difficulties by which they were afterwards
surrounded, we can only conjecture from
the result. The fact is, however, quite evi-
dent, that his friendly iuterposition for
their safety was but of short duration; and
that those who, unconscious of the wrong
done to him, relied upon it, were grievously
disappointed and betrayed.

Almost daily throughout the month of
June, 1857, the fires of rebellion glared
wildly over the wide provinces of British
India; and it was but in few instances that
the reeking blade of the murderer did not
precede or follow the torch of the incen-
diary. The confidence that for more than
a century had subsisted between European
and native society had been rudely shaken,
and the bonds of union that connected the
European officer with the native soldier,
were suddenly and irreparably severed. It
had become less a cause of surprise than of
apprehension when, day after day, intelli-
gence spread over the country of unex-
pected outbreaks in this or that quarter of
the Bengnl presidency, sometimes accom-
panied by rumours of the most dire import
—at others, appearing only as an effect of
some popular and systematic design to
shake off the yoke of foreign domination,
without unnecessarily provoking the wanton
effusion of blood that too frequently alrcady
had characterised the progress of the insur-
rection, and had degraded a struggle for
liberty and independence as a people, iuto
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[JULLUNDUR—AN ALARM,

n war of senseless cruelty and unmanly
vengeance. 1t was under the milder phase
of the guilty obscuration of Indian renown,
that the revolt of the troops at Jullundur—a
large town and military station in the
Doab, about seveuty-five miles east of La-
hore—occurred on the 7th of June.

JuLLuNDUR.—For some time previously,
this cantoument had been occupied by
the 36th and 6lst regiments of native
infantry, and some troops of the 6th regi-
ment of Bengal light cavalry; there was
also at the station a troop of European
horse artillery. Nothing had occarred to
give rise to suspicion that the native troops
were yet tainted by the mutinous spirit
that liovered like a destroying angel over
every station of the Bengal army; but the
repose of the cantonment was at length to
Le interrupted.

On the night of the 8rd of June, an
alarm was raised that fire had broken out
in the lines of the 61st regiment—a circum-
stance that of itself, when the general good
conduct of the regiment was taken into
consideration, might, in all probability, have
been regarded as accidental, and so would
have passed away without necessarily ex-
citing any serious fears of impending mis-
chief from the troops; but it happened that,
on the following night, the hospital of the
cantonment was also discovered to be on fire,
and was entirely destroyed. It was nolonger
doubted that the continuous mischief was
the work of an incendiary; but, from the
mystery that enveloped the occurreuce, it
was not possible to trace the guilty hand.
Sufficient cause had, however, been given
to encourage suspicion of the fidelity of the
soldiers; and the inhabitants of the station
ventured to suggest to the officer in com-
mand, that their position was one of con-
siderable danger—an idea which he de-
cidedly refused to adopt. The European
residents then took measures for ensuring
the safety of their families, and most of the
women and children were removed from
the station. The day and night of the 5th
passed over without remewing cause for
further apprehension ; and on the 6th the
force at Jullundur was augmeunted by the
arrival of a troop of native horse artillery,
and the 4th regiment of Sikh infantry. The
appearance of the latter in the cantonment
gave umbrage to the men of the Bengal
regiments; and the brigadier in command
of the station, yielding to some inconceiv-
able influence, sought to conciliate the

offended fanatics by a most unmilitary con-
cession; and the Sikls were actually ordered
out of the cantonment on the evening of
the very day they had marched into it.
The troopers of the Bengal artillery, who
had arrived at the same time, were encamped
in the lines of the European horse artillery,
and their guns were safely parked with
those of the latter.

The propriety of disarming the men who
had exhibited so much feeling against the
Sikhs, was urged upon the brigadier; but
he could not be persuaded to doubt the
fidelity of the regiments, and hesitated to
offer such an offence to men whom he still
believed to be loyal and well-disposed. His
indecision encouraged the discoutented, and
enabled them to choose their own time for
action.

The 7th of June (Sunday) passed quietly
until about an hour before midnight, when
an alarm of fire was raised in the lines of
the 36th regiment, and at the same time a
party of the 6th light cavalry galloped into
the infantry lines, shouting furiously that
the Europeans were at hand to attack the
native troops. The latter were instantly in
a state of disorder, and rushed to the bells
of arms to secure means of defence. The
officers of the two corps hastened to the
lines to endeavour to pacify the men, and
recall them to their duty; but their efforts
only provoked insult; and at length the
mutiny was complete. Two or three of
the officers were slightly wounded in the
coufusion, and in the random firing that
occurred while the lines were blazing; but
there was no meditated attempt to murder
or even injure the Europeans of any grade
by the soldiers, even when their excitement
was at the highest pitch. After setting fire
to some bungalows, in revenge for not being
allowed to take possession of the guus
(which were manfully held by the European
artillerymen, and preserved without blood-
shed), the mutineers left the station in a
body, in the direction of the Sutlej, taking
Phillour, a neighbouring cantonment, in
their way, where they were joined by the
men of the 3rd Bengal regiment, and, to-
gether, marched off en route for Delhi.

Owing to the prevalence of the same
strange hallucination that had controlled
his previous conduct, the mutineers were
suffered to get a start of several hours
before Brigadier Johustone could be per-
suaded to allow the European troopers to
follow them. When at length he did move,
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his force was halted after a march of ten or
twelve miles, and the fugitives were thus
enabled to cross without molestation, by
the chief ferry, over the Sutlej.  Upon their
arrival at Loodiana, they were opposed by
a few Sikhs, under Mr. Ricketts, the civil
magistrate; but numbers prevailed over
valour; and the rebels, after setting free the
prisoners in the gaol, pushed on by forced
marches for the Mogul capital. During
the stay of the mutinous force at Loodiana,
a body of Cashmerees took advantage of
the disorder occasioned by their presence,
and commenced plundering the town, and
ill-using some of the inhabitants who would
not join in their outrages; the missionary
house, and buildings occupied by the public
officers, were partly destroyed, and some
valuable property carried off; but on the
departure of the rebel force, quiet was
restored, and the authority of the civil
magistrates re-established. The punish-
ment of those who had been taken in the
act of plunder and outrage, followed as a
necessary consequence, and on the 13th of
June twenty of the offenders were hanged,
in the presence of the whole native popula-
tion.

The mutiny of the native regiments at
Jullundur naturally excited some alarm
among the Europeans resident at the sta-
tion; but the timely provision made for the
safcty of the women and children, relieved
them from much’of the anxiety they must
otherwise have suffered. Beyond a few slight
wounds, and firing some of the bungalows, it
tlues not appcar that any serious injury was
sustained either at Jullundur or Phillour.

Some details of this almost bloodless
émcute are furnished by the subjoined ex-
tracts from a letter dated June 10th,
1857. The writcr, an officer of one of the
wmutinous regiments, says—* I must explain,
as briefly as possible, how all this miser-
able business took place. After ahout a
week of comparative quiet, we were put
on the gLui vive on the 3rd inst. by a
fire breaking out in the men’s lines of
the 6lst. On the following night they
burnt the hospital. On the 5th all was
quiet. On the 6th a native troop of horse
artillery marched into this station; the
4th Sikh infantry also came in. I believe
that the reason of the move on the part of
the native troop was, that it was not con-
sidered safe to leave a native troop at a
station where there was no European regi-
wmicnt. The arrival of the 4th Sikhs, it
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appears, caused great anxiety in the minds
of the men of the native regiment here;
and the brigadier, fearing that some of them
would desert, ordered the Sikh regiment
out of the station on the evening of the day
on which they arrived. The native troop
were encamped in the horse artillery lines,
and their guns were parked with those of
the European troop. This brings us up to
the morning of Sunday, the 7th: during
the whole of the day everything was quiet.
Our men showed no symptoms of uneasiness,
and all went on as usual. So quiet was
everything, that in the evening my wife
went to church with our old friend Harris,
the veterinary surgeon. I could not go, as
I wished to visit the lines, as has been my
invariable custom ever since hearing the
lamentable news from Delhi. After church
several of our regiment dined quietly with
us; and at ten o’clock, having sent my wife
to sleep at the artillery barracks with
the other ladies and children, I went to
bed at eleven, with all my clothes on as
usual. I had just closed my eyes, when I
heard one of my guard call out that there
was a fire. I jumped up, and saw the
reflection of fire in the direction of the 36th
native infantry lines. I instantly mounted
my horse, and rode down to our lines as
hard as I could gallop. On reaching our
men’s lines all appeared quiet.
gently up between the men’s and horse

I rode :

1

lines, and had nearly reached the lines of -

the second troop, when I heard a shot fired
in the direction of the 36th lines. Not an
instant elapsed bLefore I saw a rush made
by the men of the accond troop for the bell
of arms, which they had reached before I
could get up to them. I drew my sword,
rode at them, and succeeded in driving
them back to their lines, but not until they
had forced one of the doors. The troopers
stood at the end of their lines, and I
appealed to them in every possihle way—
reminded them of the distingnished name
their fathers had gained for the regiment,
and told them to prove they were faithful
soldiers by returning every man to his hut.
(In the meantime I sent off to our com-
manding officer, Macmullen, who was in
the lines, to tell him what was going on.)
The men seemed to have come to their
senses, and I hoped the panic was over, for
they turned to obey me, and walked back
towards their huts. Before they had
reached them & hrisk file firing commenced
in the infantry lines: the men turned

i
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again and made another rush towards the
bell of arms. I stopped them at the head
of the troop, and swore I would cut the
first man down who crossed the little ditch
that runs across the front of the lines. I
kept them in check for a minute or two,
during which I heard horses galloping, and,
glancing in the direction of the sound, saw
men galloping out of the horse lines of the
3rd squadron. A cry was raised that the
3rd squadron had mounted, and the men of
the right wing dashed off to the bell of
arms. I rode at them, and upset some of
the infatuated scoundrels, but it was of no
use. One fellow drew his tulwar, which he
had in addition to his regimental sabre, and
made a cut at my leg. Fortunately, I
managed to guard it. Some of the men
tried to catch at my reins; and seeing that
it was all up, and that half the regiment
was mounted, I rode through them, and
galloped off towards the artillery, to warn
them that our men were in open mutiny.
I must tell you that the artillery lines are
between the 36th native infantry. Before
I had left the lines, some of our men came
at me and rode across the road after me,
close up to the barracks. I rode up to the
orderly room, and told the first person I
met, who happened to be Hill, what had
occurred, and told him to go off to the
brigadier and warn him. I then rode back
into our lines along the front of the horse
lines, and found that almost all the men
had made off. As T reached the horse lines
of the lst troop I was overtaken by our
quartermaster-sergeant, who told me that
Macmullen had been shot by one of our
men. Iinstantly went off with the sergeant,
and found poor Macmullen with some of
the other officers between the men and
horse lines of the 6th troop. He was
wounded in the hand. Just at this time
there was a rush made towards us by part
of our men, and, seeing that to remain was
only to sacrifice our lives uselessly, I pre-
vailed on Macmullen to leave the lines and
proceed to the artillery barracks, which was
the rendezvous. On reaching the barracks,
where all the ladies were congregated, we
found poor Bagshawe, the adjutant of the
36th, had just been brought in severely
wounded. It appears that some of our
men rode off to the 36th and 61st lines, and
attempted to cut down all the officers they
saw, They wounded three officers in the
61st, and one in the 36th ; the scene at the
barracks was oue of the utmost confusion—

Iadies, children, servants, and soldiers all
mixed up together. An order was given
for the ladies, children, &c., to be taken to
a barrack nearer the gun-sheds; and off
they went, my wife in an awful state, and
our little boy sitting on my holster-pipe.
We had nearly got them iuto their
new quarters, when file firing commenced
from the direction of the 86th lines, the '
shot whistling through the artillery lines.
Shortly after the firing commenced, some of
our men made a dash at the guns, but were
received with a couple of rounds of grape
and a smart volley of musketry, whick
stopped them. I was standing in view of
the guns, and saw the wretches sheer off to
the right. There is no doubt that they
fully expected the native horse artillery to
join them; and I am told that they shouted
to them to do so; but this I did not hear
myself.

“The native troop were, by a judicious
arrangement, so dovetailed with the Eu-
ropean troops, and, in addition, had a com-
pany of the 8th foot to look after them,
that had they wished it they could not have
sold us. We were troubled no more by the
mutineers, who seemed to have commenced
their march to Phillour, on finding that it
was hopeless to attempt to take our guus.
The hours passed slowly enough till morn-
ing; and, to make matters still more un-
comfortable, we were treated to a sandstorm,
which at once blinded and choked us. At
2 o’clock a.M. Macmullen and Farquharson
went into our lines, and found many of our
men there. They called the roll, and took
the names of all the men who were present.
This I did not know until afterwards. As
soon as day broke, Ray (our riding-master)
and I went to our standard guard, and, to
my great delight, found that the guard had
remained at their post, and our standards
were safe. I had been up to the guard
duriag the night, but could not hear or see
a soul, and concluded that they had also
gone off. We went to the men’s lines,
turned them out, and took the muster ; the
result was, that we found 156 men, not
including the native mnon-commissioned
officers, were present; doubtless -many of
them had gone off and returned.

“We had ninety troopers on furlough,
so that just one squadron of the regimeut
has joined the mutineers. However, I
have now no confidence in any native.
Some of our best men have proved the

most active in this miserable business. .\
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rough rider in my troop, who had been
riding my charger in the morning, and had
played with my little child, was one of the

* men who charged the guns ; he was wounded,

and had the impudence to go up to our
hospital. On taking the muster in the
morning, we compared it with the one
which was taken by Farquharson, and
found that a native officer and ten men
had returned subsequently to the muster
being taken. These we made over to a
party of the 8th foot. We tried them by a
drum-head court-martial, and had them
shot. We received an order to make over
all the horses and arms that remained to
the artillery. The men were ordered to
give up their arms, and did it. It was a
cruel sight, and we all felt it most bitterly.
These were men in whom we had implicit
confidence.

“The 6th has now virtually ceased to
exist. Our horses are all being given to
irregulars, or being draughted into the
artillery, and our men guard their lines
with bludgeons. It seems, that after their
attack on the guns, finding that the native
troop would not join them, the whole of
the mutineers left this station, and marehed
for Phillour ; and I believe the larger num-
ber of them were out of this station by two
in the morning. When the mutiny com-
menced, we telegraphed to Phillour to
break the bridge of boats, to prevent the
rascals erossing; but, the men at Phillour
being all asleep, the message was passed on
to Umballah, to be telegraphed back to
Phillour in ease the wire between this and
Phillour should be cut, which was done
very shortly after the message was sent.
I am perfectly certain that our men went
in a panic; some, of course, were bad; but
many galloped off, believing what they
were told—viz., that the guns and 8th foot,
with the Kapootallah xajah’s men, were
coming down on them; and then, feeling
that they had compromised themselves,
they feared to return.”

The intended warning to the authorities
at PLillcur failed for the reason alleged, and
the consequence was, that the mutineers
from Jullunaur were actually at the station
before their revolt was known. The men
of the 3rd regiment did not hesitate to
make common cause with the rebels, and at
once set out with them for Delhi—first,
however, assuring their officers that their
persons should be respected; and they
appear to«l)x;ve acted in accordance with

such assurance, as no personal injury was
sustained by any one, although the whole
of the European families were completely
in their power, if they had chosen to exer-
cise a vindictive spirit. The officer in com-
mand at Philloar at the time, writes from
Simla on the 23rd of July, in reference
to the occurrence, thus:—“1 could have
managed my own regiment, had not the
three regiments at Jullundur—viz., the 6th
cavalry, 36th and 6lst mative infantry,
mutinied, and fallen back on wus. The

telegraph wires were cut; so I got no in-

formation of the Jullundur corps coming
our way till they were almost on our
parade. I got my family, and the families
of all the Europeans then in cantonments,
off to the fort, which had latterly been
garrisoned by a hundred men of her ma-
Jesty’s 8th foot.

“On going to parade, I found the officers
eould not get the men to turn out and form
in any numbers; and as fast as they got a
few here and there, others went back to the
lines. Seeing the case was hopeless, we
retired to the fort, myself and other officers

on foot. ©Our men had always said, ¢ Happen

what would, not one of us should be hurt
while they lived.” This is all I can say for
my men: they kept their word; for had
they liked, they could have murdered every
man, woman, and child before I got them
out of the cantonments. On reaching the
fort, I found everyone safe. A few days
after, the families of all officers were ordered
off to the hills, and I arranged for my wife
and children coming here. A few days
later I got a letter from the general, saying,
that as the fort was garrisoned by her ma-
jesty’s corps, he wished the command to
rest with the officer of that regiment, and,
as my corps was gone, I might proceed on
leave ; 8o I followed my family.

“Some 80 of my men remained stanch,
and I had a company on duty at Delhi;
making 180. Stanch, 180; Sikhs, also in
the regiment, 75 ; sepoys away on furlough,
150 : total left, out of the 1,000 men of the
8rd regiment, 405.”

It certainly appears strange—although it
may admit of a satisfactory explanation—
that, with a fort in bis immediate neigh-
bourhood, garrisoned by 100 men of her
majesty’s 8th regiment, and the 80 of his
own corps that “remained stanch,” this
officer should so unresistingly have acqui-
esced in the quiet and unobstructed deser-

tion of his regiment. It may he fairly
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assumed, that permission to retire from
acuve duty, “on leave,” at such a crisis,
may have been only an inevitable conse-
quence of such acquiescence.

The opportunities afforded for recounting
incidents of such bloodless ebullitions of dis-
affection as those exhibited at Jullundur and
Phillour, are but rare throughout the wild
progress of the Indian rebellion; the pages
of its history being far oftener shaded by
the sombre hues of a desolating and indis-
criminating vengeance, than brightened by
the lighter tints of human feeling, or the
recognised usages of modern warfare.

In connection with the mutiny at Jul-
lundur, the following graphic letter of an
officer of the 60th regiment of native in-
fantry, stationed at Umballah, will probably
be deemed entitled to attention. We shall
best preserve the interest of the narrative
by following the text of the gallant writer,
without interrupting it by comment. Writing
on the 15th of July, from Umballah, he says
—“One day I was hastily summoned to a
council of war, and learnt that the troops at
Jullundur had mutinied, consisting of three
regiments, a cavalry corps, and two guns,
and that they were marching on us; so,
with my 100 men, I was ordered to defend
the left flank of cantonments—not a pleasant
duty, as I should be a mile away from the
rest of the Europeans in the fort, and my
men had been whispering ominously among
themselves. The next afternoon some troops
were perceived advancing ; the dust was so
great, that their numbers could not be ascer-
tained. Directly the alarm was sounded,
every man took refuge in the church, while

. I rode away to my lines. However, I put

on a good face, and being mounted on a
capital horse of Colonel Seatou’s, I soon
reached the lines, and turned the men out.
They were very eager, and talked amazingly
of what they would do; but I thought

. very differently, and determined to fight on

horseback. However, it turned out a false
alarm, the troops being friends; but as
they filed under the guns of the fort, a
European artilleryman requested leave to
give them some ° grape,’ saying, ¢ Sure they
are niggers.” All that night I patrolled by
myself, being more afraid of my own sen-
tries than any enemy; however, like all
nights, it at last came to an end ; and I felt
like another man when daylight came and
no enemy; for I do not think 1 ain malign-
ing my men when I say, that had an enemy
appeared, they would have shot me and

joined the rebels. That morning informa-
tion was received, that General Johnstone,
from Jullundur, was pursuing them, and
that the 61st native infantry had separated,
and was sneaking along the foot of the hills
by by-roads, and thus trying to get to
Delhi. Two compauies of Europeans were
immediately ordered in carts to intercept
them in the Malka-road, and I volunteered
to go with them, and was appointed aide-
de-camp and quartermaster to the force. I
had previously volunteered for Delhi, for a
volunteer troop of cavalry and a volunteer
troop of infantry, and had been invariably
refused. We did not start till 1 p.M., a
wind blowing as hot as the breath from a
furnace. There were no carts for us, and
we had to ride. The officer commanding
got struck by the sun, and two others fell
sick, so at last I was left by myself. We
did not halt all day; and at about 11 p.M.,
my pony having outstepped the carts, I was
about a mile ahead, and passing through a
nasty brushwood, and thinking what a place
it would be for a surprise, when a volley of
musketry came on oue side. I pulled up,
clutched that invaluable weapon ¢ Colt,” and
listened. The night was as dark as ink,
and all quiet and still again. I listened
for the carts, but could not hear them, and
was surprised to find how I had uncon-
sciously wandered away from them. Just .
then I faintly heard the bugle sounding |
the ¢assembly,” followed by the ‘double:’
putting spurs to my ‘tat’ I flew back, and
found that the enemy were close by, and
we were going to foot it after them. A party
was put on some elephants and sent ahead,
but those on foot declared they would get
on first, and set off at about five miles an
hour. I got off my elephant and fell-in
with them, and we had a hottish walk,
beating the elephants hollow. T was after-
wards called out, and sent on ahead to where
the commissioner was to give orders; so I
galloped off, and found the said gentleman
in an unpleasant state of fear, and so dis-
ordered in mind that he could give no
orders, except that Mr. Forsyth (civilian)
had come upon the rebels, and that his
men had all bolted, and Forsyth had taken
refuge in a walled town. I took the liberty
of ordering dinner for six, sharp, and carried
back this intelligence, and strongly advised
pushing on eight miles more to relieve
Forsyth. We all arrived at the bungalow,
and then the commissioner kept saying
that we were two late by three hours. So
407
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we ate our dinner at 1 a.M., and, putting
my saddle for a pillow, I turned-in on the
floor. In about an hour I was awoke, and
told we were going on to relieve Forsyth;
so we all got up, weary and tired, having
bad just enough sleep to make us wish for
more. We reached Forsyth, and heard we
were just too late again; but he had car-
riage for fifty men, he said, if we were game
to pursue, and he offered fifty rupees for
every head brought in; so of course all
volunteered, but only fifty were chosen, and
the officers drew lots for it. The com-
manding officer told me to do as I liked, so
I volunteered and attached myself to For-
syth as deputy-assistant, and found him a
jolly companion, and a resolute, energetic
man. He mounted me on his elephant,
and, the men being all likewise mounted,
we started at 6 a.M. after the rebels. The
heat was fearful that day, and the road
nothing more than a track over dazsling,
drifting sand. After marching for two
hours, a temporary halt for water was
called, and I was thinking how lucky I was
to have a flask of brandy with me, when
Forsyth offered me claret. I was delighted
" of course to find myself attached to one
{ who marched with claret. We did not halt
again till 12 p.M., and then found the rebels
still ahead, but very close.

“Forsyth then asked me to make a
‘dour’ twenty miles on horseback, and try
to reach a police-station before the rebels,
and check them till the Europeans could
arrive. As I had no good horse, he lent
me a government artillery horse, as it was
imperatively necessary to be well mounted
in case of having to bolt. He rode a beau-
tifal Arab, and, buckling on swords and
pistols, and slinging our rifles on our backs,
away we went as hard as we could, with an
escort of ten mounted natives. We were
meeting the wind, and the heat was insuf-
ferable; the wind dried me up, and blis-
tered my face almost to suffocation; still,
‘forward’ we cried, and in a state of mad
excitement we hammered along, our poor
horses suffering greatly, mine especially;
however, I never mounted a gamer animal ;
he would not allow the Arab to be one inch
ahead of him. The escort had fallen to the
rear, and were nowhere. Still we flew
along, and at last reached a fort, and, sum-
moning up the head man, demanded intel-
ligence. He lied to us, and tricd to break
our scent, so hie was hung there and then,
and another fined 1,000 rupees. After
408

having been so merciful we started afresh,
and actually rode right through the Glst
native infantry, who were eating their din-
ners, when a cry arose of ‘ Two Europeans !’
They immediately fled to the jungle. We,
observing places for cooking, and fires burn-
ing, thought they must be just ahead, and
dashed forwards with renewed speed. I
never could understand why they spared

us, except that they were chased off their

legs, and had lost all pluck and heart.
Just beyond we came to a nullah, with
steep banks. We charged it abreast, with-
out looking to see what it was, and took it
exactly together; but my horse had not the
blood of the Arab, and was done. He
reached the other side, but his hind legs
slipped back, and over he went to the
hottom. I got bruised from the lock of
the rifle entering my back; but it was
softish ground, so I scrambled up and soon
remounted ; but the horse was nearly done
for; still he gallantly held out for five
miles more, when we entered the pulice-
station, and then he lay down and died.
I got some rice to eat, almost the first
thing I had tasted since I left Umballah.
We laid down and got a bit of rest, all
owing to my poor horse; for if he had not
failed, we should have ridden on and de-
stroyed a bridge over the Jumna. The
detachment soon arrived, and we let them
rest a little, seeing nothing of any rebels.
After our dinner, Forsyth and I were once
more in the saddle, and ready to proceed.
I was on my white pony. No mounted
men would come with us unless we pro-
mised to ride like men in their senses. As
it was pitch dark, we promised, and off we
went for fifteen miles more. We went very
quietly at first, Forsyth’s Arab as fresh as
if he had not been out of the stable for a
month. We soon increased our speed, and
at last were in a sharp canter, to the horror
of the men behind. One man was very
troublesome, and would persist in keeping
close by me, making my pony very fidgety
and warlikely inclined ; so, at last, I paid
him out beautifully, though quite by acci-
dent. We came suddenly on a great fissure
across the road. It was too late to stop,
80 I rode at it, and reached the other side
all right. 'The native behind me did not
see it, and rode right into it. I heard a
heavy fall and cry of ‘I’m killed I’ but we
only laughed, and rode on and sas no more
of the cscort. Just before we arrived at
the little station we rode through a clump of
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trees, and a low bough caught Forsyth, who
was thrown. I caught his horse, and we
rode quietly on, and got in just in time to
-warn Plowden (civil servant.) The next
morning, the fall, combined with fatigue
and heat, prostrated Forsyth, and, not
willing to leave him in the jungle, I stayed
with him, and returned to Umballah the
next night, having been out three days, two
of which, night and day, had been incessant
marching; but the sun had no effect upon
me, and no one stood it better, if so well, as
I did. I only changed the skin on my face
Perhaps the excitement is
good for me; but certainly it seems to me
to be the coolest hot weather altogether
that I have experienced. On my return, I
heard the news of the mutiny of our regi-
ment. They are all gone! The men that
we so trusted; my own men, with whom I
have shot, played cricket, jumped, and
entered into all their sports, and treated
them kindly. They mutinied at Bhotuck.
It was a hard trial their being sent there,
ounly three marches from Delhi. While
there they received hundreds of letters
from the rebels to come over to them. So,
on the 11th of June, they rushed on the
drummers. The officers were collected in
the mess-tent when the regiment came up,
fired a volley through 1it, miraculously
hitting no one, and then off they went.
The officers rushed out, got on their horses,
and bolted to Delhi to join the camp.
Shebheare refused to leave them at first,
hoping to bring them round again, and
trusted to his great popularity to get off ;
but their looks were so murderous that he
soon walked off, and, when told by them to
quicken his pace, told them that he would
not put himself out for any of them. They
then looted the mess, smashed all the mess-
plate, carried off all our silver of every
description, plundered the wine, took the
treasure chest, and, after hanging a police-
man who had hid their camels, they marched
for Delhi. But the officers arrived first,
and gave information, and all the guns
were laid for the gate by which they would
enter; so as they approached they were
awfully cut up, and the 9th lancers swept
down upon them, so that the left wing was
aunihilated. The next day the rebels made
a fierce attack upon the camp, and the 60th
were told to lead, and were cut up almost
to a man. Miraculous to say, this is the
only station that has escaped a massacre,
and it was a touch-and-go here; few knew
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their danger until it was over; even now we
dare not go to church. Sunday hereis a
day when revolvers and two-barrelled guns
are by our sides. What has kept us afloat
so long is the constant passing of Europeans,
and the rajah of Putteeala, who is for us
at present; but if he were to go we should
have to fight our way weither to Delhi or
Loodiana—the latter is only six marches,
and then we can drop down the Sutlej to
Mooltan; but I hope it will not come to
that; for fancy the ladies, who have all been
ordered up to the hills! some thousands of
them.

“T have got into the habit of sleeping sc
lightly, that a cat walking across the room
would wake me. Under my pillow is a re-
volver and a suit of mud-coloured clothes,
in which I am at night nearly invisible ; my
sword by the bed, and rifle and gun in the
corner; so I think I could manage a few of
them if they came. All I want now is a
good horse, and then I am game for any-
thing. * * * We have had that terrible
scourge the cholera. It has been raging
here with frightful violence for two months;
but, thank God, has now left us without
harming the ‘sahibs”’ It seemed a judg:
ment on the natives. They were reeling
about and falling dead in the streets, and
no one to remove them. Now it is all
over. It is the ouly time we have looked
on it as an ‘ally,” though it has carried off
many soldiers, two native officers, and six
policemen, who were guarding prisoners.
All fell dead at the same place. As one
dropped another stepped forward and took
his place, and so on the whole lot. We
have just disarmed the natives here, and
got three cartloads of weapons from them.
I have applied for leave of absence for all
the men left here under my command. If
granted, I shall be free and able to join my
officers in the camp. 1 am looking for-
ward to my furlough, or rather sick certifi-
cate, or sumething—sick, indeed, of India
and its army of murderers. This dak is
going round by Mooltan, Kurrachee, and
back to Bombay. Three sepoys to be
executed this evening. We have blown
away a great number from guns; in fact,
we show them every week what they will
get.”’

The hand of retributive justice was by
this time uplifted, and the sword ready to
fall upon the guilty perpetrators of unpro-
voked and hitherto unparalleled crimes;
and it was at Ferozepore and Peshawur

409
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~hat the presence of the avenger was first
impressively manifested to the actors and
abettors of a career of treason and murder.
At the former place, it will be remembered,
the men of the 45th regiment of native
infantry had broken into revolt, and at-
tacked the Magazine fort during the morn-
ing of the 13th of May* They were,
however, repulsed by a detachment of her
majesty’s 6lst regiment, and finally driven
out of the cantonment; d#mt not before
they had committed great depredation,
and wantonly destroyed much property of
the Europeans at the station. Some of the
mutineers were taken prisoners; and as an
example was necessary, to deter the other
troops from following their example, a
number of them were tried by court-mar-
tial, and sentenced to death.

On the morning of the 13th of June,
exactly one month from the mutinous out-
brenk by which the destruction of the
whole European community at Ferozepore
was to have been accomplished, a huge
gallows was erected at the south-east end of
the Suddur Bazaar, and north of the Old
Fort, the side at which the rebels had
effected an entry. All the available troops,
and persons belonging to public depart-
ments at the station, were collected to wit-
ness the scene. On three sides of the area,
of which the gallows formed the centre, the
troops were stationed in the following order:
—On the east a squadron of the 10th
native light cavalry, the remnant of the dis-
banded 37th regiment of native infantry,
and some persons belonging to the com-
missariat and magazine departments: on
the south, her majesty’s 61st regiment and
the artillery, with twelve guns loaded and
+ portfires lighted : and, on the west, the
city and cantonment armed police. When
the hour arrived for the execution of the
sentence, twenty-four of the mutineers,
wearing irous, were brought into the centre
of the area by a guard of the 6lst regi-
. ment, one of them being carried in a dhooly,
in consequence of a wound received by him
in the attack upon the fort. Lieutenant
Hoggan, adjutant of the 61st, then, by order
of the brigadier, read aloud the proceedings
and sentence of the court-martial, and, at
its close, announced to the condemned, that
| if any among them would become queen’s

evidence, the brigadier would reprieve
i them. The sight of the preparations for an
. otherwise inevitable punishment, had an

* See ante, p. 119,
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instantaneous effect upon twelve of the
miserable wretches, who declared their
readiness to inform against the ringleaders
of the movement, and also to divulge the
secret as to the origin and object of the
revolt. These men were immediately
marched to the rear of the artillery, from
whence they were compelled to witness the
fate of their more inflexible comrades. Of
the latter, two were then led, or rather
taken to the gallows, one of them beiug the
wounded wan. Each of them ascended
the ladder with a firm step, and without -
betraying the slightest indication of terror
at the fate they had provoked. On gain-
ing the platform, they coolly adjusted the
ropes with their own hands in silence; their
arms were then pinioned, and their eyes
bandaged, and in another second they were
suspended in the air. With one, death
appeared to be instantaneous; but the
wounded culprit struggled for some time,
as the knot had slipped from its position,
and the hangman had to readjust it, and
again launch him from the platform before
his death was accomplished.

As soon as this, the first act of the tra-
gedy, had been performed, the remaining
ten prisoners were marched up to the guns,
and their irons were struck off, previous to
their being bound to the muzzles of the
terrible implements of destruction. While
being freed from their shackles, some of
them appealed to the brigadier for mercy,
exclaiming, “ Do not sacrifice the innocent
for the guilty I’ Two others indignantly
cried out to these, “ Hold your tongues !—
die like men, not cowards! You defended
your religion, why then do you crave your
lives ? Sahibs |—they are not sahibs, they
are dogs!” Others upbraided the com-
manding officer, saying, “ He released the
havildar-major, who was chief of the rebels.”
By this time the process of fastening them
to the guns had been completed. The
commandant then gave the word, “ Ready—
Fire !”—and instantaneously the ten mise-
rable wretches were scattered in bloody
fragments over the ground.

As the smoke cleared away from the
horrible scene, the view to the spectators
was overpowering : many of the firmest
nerved were shaken by a glance at the
carnage that lay around and before them.
The native lookers-on—and they were
numerous—appeared awe-stricken, and, ac-
cording to the description of one of the
officers, “not only trembled like aspen-
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leaves, but their colour actually changed
into unnatural hues.” Unfortunately, this
execution was attended by a series of ac-
cidents, that rendered it painfully impres-
sive upon others than those for whose just
punishment it was required.

In the first place, precaution had not
been taken to remove the sponge and load-
men from their proper station near the
muzzle of the guns; and the consequence
was, that they were bespattered with blood,
and bruised by the scattered limbs of the
prisoners—one man in particular being
struck down by a heavy fragment of one of
the mutilated bodies, and severely injured
by the contusion. The next mishap was
yet more disastrous in its consequences.
An order had been given that the guns
should be loaded with blauk cartridge only ;
but, by oversight or neglect, one or two of
them were charged with grapeshot. In
the direction in which the guns were
pointed, a number of spectators, supposed
o be out of the range of blank cartridge,
had assembled, and amongst them the
grapeshot was scattered with distressing
effect. Five were carried off the ground,
severely, if not dangerously, wounded ; two
others were shot through the thigh, and
three more in various parts. All were
promptly conveyed to the station hospital ;
and of some, the limbs had to suffer ampu-
tation.

The execution of these mutineers was
but an instalment of the just vengeance
that the crimes of their race had provoked.
In the evening of the same day, two
ruffians, who had taken advantage of the
disturbed state of the district to commit
depredations upon the roads, were summa-
rily tried, convicted, and hung at the gaol :
from their capture to their death, three
hours had not elapsed! Oun the 14th of
June, the trials of the deserters from the
16th and 49th native regiments were pro-
ceeded with, and the various sentences ac-
corded to them were instantly carried into
execution. Some mitigating circumstances
in the conduct of the men of the 57th regi-
ment, rendered a sentence of imprisonment
sufficient, in their case, to satisfy the re-
quirements of justice.*

Pesaawur.—At this place also, although
as yet preserved from the ferocious outrages
of a sepoy revolt, there were sufficient
reasons, about the beginning of June, for
apprehending that the immunity from

* See ante, pp. 120, 121.

danger would not be of long continuance.
It had, by some means, been made known
to the officer in command of the station,
that a total massacre of the Europeans was
contemplated, and that its execution had
been fixed for the 23rd of May; but, for
some reason not explained, had been de-
ferred. With a conviction of the perfect
truth of this information, it would have
been perfectly suicidal to have allowed the
troops implicated in the frightful project
to retain possession of their arms, if evex
they were ailowed to be at liberty; but
the disarming of four regiments was not
a feat to be undertaken without some
danger of failure, or without precautions for
peutralising its effect, should the failure
actually occur. At the time this necessary
step was resorted to, the position of the
2,000 Europeans at this station was as
follows :— .

The native force in cantonments at Pesha-
wur consisted of the 21st, 24th, 27th, 51st,
and 64th regiments of Beugal native infan-
try, and the 5th light cavalry. The can-
tonment in which this host was quartered,
was filled to repletion with vagabonds and
camp-followers of the vilest description.
The city itself was thronged with a dis-
affected rabble, ripe for any atrocity; and
in a chain of forts surrounding the station,
were four other native regiments, all ani-
mated by the same spirit of hostility to the
Europeans, and ouly waiting the signal to
concentrate upon their prey, and carry out
the sanguinary purpose of the whole body.
Beyond the line of forts the station was
again encircled by hills, swarming with
Mohammedau fanatics, who thirsted for the
blood of the Christians, and were known to
be in communication with the embryo
mutineers; and to add to the difficulty of
the European residents, the country people,
to whom the intended rising of the 22nd of
May was well known, had refused to furnish
supplies of provisions; and, being in daily
expectation of the destruction of the Ferin-
ghees, no longer cared to have any inter-
course with them, or to minister to their
wants. It was obvious this state of exis-
tence could not be endured long after its
reality had become apparent; and, by the
judiclous and energetic measures adopted,
the evil was remedied, and the cause of dis-
quietude removed.t It yet, however, re-
mained to punish such of the guilty con-
templators of a wholesale massacre as, by

t See ante, p. 124. an
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their conduct, had put themselves beyond
the pale of forgiveness.

At the time the regiments in Peshawur
were deprived of their arms without offer-
ing resistance, the men of the 56th native
infantry, occupying the adjacent fort of
Murdan, were also required to surrender
their arms; and the result was a furious
mutinous outbreak, during which a reck-
less disregard of life and property was as
usual exhibited. Upon the arrival of
Colonel Nicholson with a sufficient force of
; Europeans to compel obedience, it was
found, that in addition to other calamities
produced by the misconduct of the regi-
ment, its commanding officer, Colonel Spot-
tiswoode, had, in a paroxysm of frenzy and
disgust, terminated a life of honour by an
act of suicide. The rebels had the audacity
to offer battle to the men with Colonel
Nicholson, and the offer was eagerly ac-
cepted to their cost; for after the first dis-
charge of musketry, their hearts failed
them, and they sought to escape in every
direction. This, however, could not be
permitted ; 150 of them were shot down in
the momentary contest ; others were made
Erisoners; and of these, several were tried

y drum-head court-martial as soon as the
contest had ceased, and were at once con-
signed to the death they merited. Some
few of the mutineers fled before their pur-
suers into the hills, and were dispatched by
the hill-men for the sake of a reward of
ten rupees per head.

Of the prisoners taken during this affair,
it became of course requisite, for the
better instruction of the inhabitants of
Peshawur and the adjacent district, that an
example should be made; and, like that at
Ferozepore, it was a terrible one. On the
11th of June, forty of the sanguinary
demons that- would have revelled in the

hearts’ blood of their too long confiding]

friends, were marched to the parade-ground
of the cantonment at Peshawur, where a
square of troops had been formed, with ten
guns loaded and pointed outward. The
usual formalities were observed as to the
proceedings of the court-martial, the sen-
tence, &c., and then ten of the miscreants
were bound to the guns, and, at a signal,
the horrible salvo was fired. Without
clearing away the mutilated and shattered
fragments that lay around, the guns were
again prepared—a second ten were bound
—and again a shower of blood and human
fragments marred the light of the sun.
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Twice more was this awful scene repeated ;
and twice again was retributive justice ex-

hibited in its most fearful aspect. In one

of the sections of ten that were thus to be
destroyed, there were two prisoners who,
from terror or, it might have been, some
yet lingering hope of mercy, refused to be
bound to the guns, and, in their despera-
tion, struggled hard with the men ap-

pointed to place them before the engines of |

destruction. With fhis insane conduct
there could be but one way of dealing;
and the painful scene, thus aggravated by
unavailing resistance, was terminated by
throwing the two men upon the ground,
and discharging the contents of two mus-
kets through their heads. The appalling
business of the morning was then pro
ceeded with; and at its close, such of the
native troops as were present, were marched
round the field of slaughter, and dismissed
to their lines, thoroughly, if not usefully,
impressed with the importance of the ter-

rible lesson they had received. The result |

of this decisive conduct on the part of the
commandant, Colonel Edwardes, C.B., was
quickly apparent in the altered demeanour
of the native inhabitants and the people of
the valley, who now hastened to renew a
friendly intercourse with the Europeans,
and evinced wonderful activity in furnish-
ing supplies of all kinds of necessaries
almost gratuitously, that a few days pre-
vious they would not produce for any
amount of money, or, in short, for any con-
sideration whatever, if they were required
by the Europeans, or by those connected
with them.

Of the terrible exhibition thus briefly
described, the following account is rendered
in a letter from Peshawur, which appeared
in Blackwood’s Magazine for November,
1857 :—

It was an awfully imposing scene. All
the troops, European and native, armed
and disarmed, loyal and disaffected, were
drawn up on parade, forming three sides of
a square; and drawn up very carefully, vou
may be sure, so that any attempt on the
part of the disaffected to rescue the doomed
prisoners would have been easily checked.
Forming the fourth side of the square, were
drawn up the guns (9-pounders), ten in
number, which were to be used for the exe-
cution. The prisoners, under a strong
European guard, were then marched into
the square, their crimes and sentences read
aloud to them, and at the head of each regi.
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! ment; they were then marched round the
_ square, and up to the guns.

The first ten
were picked out, their eyes were bandaged,
and they were bound to the guns—their
backs leaning against the muszzles, and
their arms fastened to the wheels. The
portfires were lighted, and at a signal from
the artillery-major, the guns were fired.
It was a horrid sight that then met the
eye ; a regular shower of human fragments
of heads, of arms, of legs, appeared in the
air through the smoke; and when that
cleared away, these fragments lying on the
ground—fragments of Hindoos and frag-
ments of Mussulmans, all mixed together—
were all that remained of those ten muti-
neers. Three times more was this scene
repeated ; but so great is the disgust we all
feel for the atrocities committed by the
rebels, that we had no room in our hearts
for any feeling of pity ; perfect callousness
was depicted on every European’s face; a
Jook of grim satisfaction could even be seen
in the countenances of the gunners serving
the guns. But far different was the effect
on the native portion of the spectators;
their black faces grew ghastly pale as they
zazed breathlessly at the awful spectacle.
You must know that this is nearly the ouly
form in which death has any terrors for a
native. If he is hung, or shot by mus-
ketry, he knows that his friends or relatives
will be allowed to claim his body, and will
give him the funeral rites required by his
religion ; if a Hindoo, that his body will be
burned with all due ceremonies; and if a
Mussulman, that his remains will be de-
cently interred, as directed in the Koran.
But if sentenced to death in this form, he
knows that his body will be blown into a
thousand pieces, and that it will be alto-
gether impossible for his relatives, however
devoted to him, to be sure of picking up
all the fragments of his own particular
body; and the thought that perhaps a
limb of some one of a different religion to
himself might possibly be burned or buried
with the remainder of his own body, is
agony to him. But notwithstanding this,
it was impossible for the mutineers’ direst
hater not to feel some degree of admiration
for the way in which they met their deaths.
Nothing in their lives became them like
the leaving of them. Of the whole forty,
only two showed any signs of fear; and
they were bitterly reproached by the others
for so disgracing their race. They cer-
tainly died like men. After the first ten

had been disposed of, the next batch, who
had been looking on all the time, walked
up to the guns quite calmly and unfalter-
ingly, and allowed themselves to be blind-
folded and tied up without moving a mus-
cle, or showing the slightest signs of fear,
or even coucern. Whence had these men
this strength? Their religion, bad as it
may be and is, in all other points, at least
befriends them well at the hour of death;
it teaches them well that great and useful
lesson, how to die.”

The beneficial effect of the plan adopted
at Peshawur for the instruction of the dis-
affected, was not confined to the immediate
locality, or to the population around it, as
may be inferred from a communication of
Colonel Edwardes, dated from that place
between the 21st of June and the 6th of
July, in which the gallant officer thus ex-
presses his view of the state of local affairs
at that period :—

“This post, so far from being more
arduous in future, will be more secure.
Events here have taken a wonderful turn.
During peace, Peshawur was an incessant
anxiety. Now it is the strongest point in
India. We have struck two great blows—
we have disarmed our own troops, and
raised levies of all the people of the coun-
try. The troops are confounded ; they cal-
culated on being backed by the people.
The people are delighted, and a better feel-
ing has sprung up between them and us in
this enlistment than has ever been ob-
tained before. I have also called on my
old country, the Deragit, and it is quite
delightful to see how the call is answered.

Two thousand horsemen, formerly in my |
army at Mooltan, are now moving on dif- !

ferent points, according to order, to help us
in this difficulty ; and every post brings me
remonstrances from chiefs as to why they
have been forgotten. What fault have they
committed that they are not sent for?
This is really gratifying. It is the heart of
a people. It does one good all through.
The Peshawurees had often heard that I
had been grateful in getting rewards for
my followers after the Mooltan war; but
they were not prepared to see such a de-
monstration from the other end of the Soo-
limanee mountains. It excites their better
feelings, and will do them good too. All
yesterday I was busy fitting out 700 horse
and foot levies (Mooltanee) to reinforce
Nicholson at Jullundur. How all the
liberality shown to these Mooltanese after
413
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the war of 1848-’49 is now repaid, in the
alacrity with which they rush to our side
again to help us! They are now invalu-
able, and so glad to see me again; it is
quite a pleasure in the midst of this howl-
ing wilderness.”

Ruonee.—About the time the stern but
imperatively called-for measures we have
recorded were progressing in one division
of the great presidency of Bengal, ample
grounds for the introduction of somewhat
similar correction were daily obtruded upon
the attention of government in other direc-
tions. At Rhonee (Deoghur), a small sta-
tion in the Sonthal district, garrisoned by
a company of the 82nd regiment of native
infantry, and a portion of the 5th irregular
cavalry (the whole under the command of
Major Macdonald, of the latter corps), a
sudden and murderous attack was made, in
the evening of the 12th of June, upon three
of the officers at the station, which resulted
in the death of one, and the severe and dan-
gerous mutilation of the others, under the
following extraordinary circumstances :—

On the evening mentioned, the three
officers—namely, Major Macdonald, Lieu-
tenant Sir Norman Leslie, and assistant-
surgeon Grant, also of the 5th irregulars—
were sitting together in the verandah of
the major’s house. The night was dark
and cloudy, and the moon was not yet up,
when, shortly before nine o’clock, as Dr.
Grant rose from his seat, and was turning
to enter the house, his attention was at-
tracted by hasty footsteps. He had scarcely
time to exclaim, “ Who can these fellows
be?” when, on the instant, three men, in
the undress of troopers, rushed into the
verandah with their swords drawn, and
turiously attacked the three unarmed men.
The assassin who struck Sir Norman Leslie,
thren such vigour into his blow, that the
unrortunate gentleman was cut down from
the shoulder to the chest; another aimed
at the head of the major, whose scalp was
completely taken off; and the third selected
for his victim Dr. Grant, whom he severely
wounded in the arm and hip. The lieu-
tenaut, deprived of all power by the mag-
nitude of the injury, fell from his chair to
linger a short time and die. Major Mac-
donald seized the chair on which he had
been seated, and used it to defend himself
against successive attacks of the murderers,
one of whom he struck a blow that induced
him to retreat from the place: the mis-
creant was quickly followed by his com.
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panions; and the msjor and Dr. Grant
made their way, streaming with blood, into
the house, and gave an alarm. The whole
affair was so sudden, and so entirely un-
expected, that, at the moment, pursuit of
the assassins was unthought of.

Upon recovering from the surprise occa-
sioned by the attack, the major and Dr.
Grant went back to the verandah, to see
after Lieutenant Leslie, whose condition is
thus described by his gallant commander:—
“We found poor Leslie stretched on the
ground, in a dying state. He must have
received his death-blow the first cut, and
have fallen forward on his face, for he was
cut clean threugh his back into his chest,
and breathing through the wound in the
lungs ; also many cuts on the head : he was
quite seusible, and said, as I bent over him,
“Oh, Macdonald, it is very hard to die in
this manner ’—and added, * My poor wife
and children! what will become of them ?’
I told him he had only a few minutes to
live, and to make his peace with God, and
that all should be doune for his poor wife
and family that could be done. Under
such fearful circumstances he then applied
himself to make his peace with God, poor
fellow ! and breathed his last in about half-
an-hour afterwards.”

The surprise and consternation occa-
sioned by this sanguinary attack was so
great, that some time elapsed before the
servants of the house could be prevailed
upon to go to the lines (a short distance
from the house) and alarm the soldiers.
To the credit of the latter, the major states
that, as soon as the men were acquainted
with the cowardly transaction, every man
off duty crowded round his bungalow, all
evincing sympathy, and expressing horror
and detestation of the murderous act that
had perilled the life of their commandant,
and had actually deprived another officer of
existence.

Any attempt to trace or pursue the
ruffians by whom the savage attack had
been perpetrated, was now wscless. Some
of the troopers, nevertheless, rode off to
Deoghur, about two miles from Rhonee,
where they found everything perfectly quiet.
A detachment of the 82nd regiment (of
which the head-quarters were established
at Deoghur) were immediately marched
over for the protection of the major and
his station ; but the former at once scut
them back, as he considered the hundred
men he already had in the lines, quite suf.

|
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ficient for that purpose; and the men them-
selves declared they were more than a
match for any odds that might appear, com-
posed of such miscreants.

Neither Major Macdonald or Dr. Grant
were dangerously, although badly wounded.
One of the blows aimed at the major took
off his scalp, which was found next morning
near the scene of outrage. For a short
time, it was supposed the three assassins
were some of the disbanded sepoys who
were prowling about the district, and trying
to instil their mischievous doctrines into
the Sounthals; the object being to induce
the troops to join them by first removing
the obstacles in the way of revolt, presented
by the watchfulness of the European officers,
who were, therefore, to be murdered out of
the way.

On the 14th of June, an official com-
nmunication referring to this lamentable
affair, was made to the adjutant-general by
Captain Watson, second in command of the
5th irregular cavalry. In this report, the
incidents of the murderous attack are re-
Iated ; and the detail thus proceeds :—* Ma-
jor Macdonald had his head cut open and
was insensible when the express was dis-
patched to me, four hours after the occur-
rence; the assistant-surgeon received two
cuts, one on the arm and one on the leg;
and Lieutenant Sir Norman Leslie was
cut down from both shoulders to the waist,
and expired in about half-an-hour. A
guard was at the major’s quarters ; but the
sentry says he saw uothing of the men,
who escaped immediately after attacking
the officers. The Woordie major of the
regiment assembled all the men who were
present, and examined their swords, which
were perfectly clean. As faras I can judge,
none of the men seem to have been impli-
cated in any way.”

On the 15th, Captain Watson forwarded
to the adjutant-general a copy of a letter
sent him on the 13th by Major Macdonald,
descri%ing the murderous affair thus:—

“] am as fairly and neatly scalped as
any Red Indian could do it. Grant got a
brace of ugly cuts, but Leslie was literally
cut to ribbons; he lived half-an-hour, poor
fellow, and quietly died. We were sitting
in frout of my house, as usual, at 8 p.y.,
taking our tea, when three men rushed

uickly upon us, and dealt us each a crack.
g was scalped; Grant cut on the elbow;
Leslie, sitting in his easy chair, appeared
to fall at the first blow. T got three cracks

on the head in succession before I knew I
was attacked. I then seized my chair by
the arms, and defended myself successfully
from two of them on me at once; I guarded
and struck the best I could, and, at last,
Grant and self drove the cowards off the
field. God only knows who they were and
where they came from, but they were prac-
tised swordsmen. Leslie was buried with
military honours, and had the burial service
read over him at Deoghur, in Ronald’s
garden. This is against my poor head,
writing ; but you will be anxious to know

how matters really were. I expect to be in |

high fever to-morrow. I have got a bad
gash into the skull, besides being scalped.
Grant and I have had the most miraculous
escape from instant death. The men of the
regiment are most attentive, and would sit
up all last night round us. My poor head
is aching, so I can write no more.”—Captain
Watson adds to this communication, that
he has received a report of the occurrence
from the civil commissioner of the district,
and that he has great satisfaction in repeat-
ing the opinion of the latter official, ¢ that
the men of the 5th irregular cavalry are loyal,
and not in the smallest degree suspected.”
The mystery, however, that darkness had
thrown around the perpetrators of the
savage act, was not of long endurance.
On the 15th, it was discovered that three
troopers of the major’s own regiment were
the assassins by whom Sir Norman Leslie
was foully murdered. The means by which
they were detected, or the motives upon
which they acted, nre not stated ; but sum-
mary justice was awarded the miscreants by
drum-head court-martial on the 16th, and
they were immediately hung in the presence
of their comrades, within view of the scene
of their butchery, and under the eyes of
their surviving victims. Major Macdonald,
whose good spirits, like his high courage,
appear to have been indomitable, wrote on
the same day to Captain Watson thus:—
‘I received your kind note as I was sitting
in my verandah, seeing the last struggles of
our friends (the three assassins.) To tell
you the truth, when we were attacked, I
felt convinced that our own men did the
deed, and I told the Woordie major so; but
Grant thought otherwise, and I was only
too glad to think our own men could not
have had a hand in it. Yesterday evening
two of the fellows were found with bloody
clothes; and the third, who lived with a
sick sowar, confessed he had done for
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Leslie; and this was evidence enough. I|wonder how I could hold it up at all. 1
had them in irons in a crack, held a drum- | have preserved my scalp in spirits of wine;
head court-martial, and convicted and sen-|such a jolly specimen!—I had hopes our
tenced them to be hanged this morning.| men had no hand in it; but, after all, two
I took on my own shoulders the respon-| were only recruits.”

sibility of hanging them first and asking| A correspondent of the Hurkaru, writing
leave to do so afterwards. One of the|upon the subject of the execution, says—
fellows was of very high caste and influ- | “ When these scoundrels were being exe-
ence; and this man I determined to treat| cuted, they gave utterance to expressions
with the greatest ignominy by getting the | that were most mutinous in their character.
lowest caste man to hang him. To tell you|One of them cried, * Which of you, my
the truth, I never for a moment expected | brethren, have the courage to rescue me
to leave the hanging scene alive; but I|from the hands of these dogs!” But the
was determined to do my duty, and well | brave old major, who, despite his wounds,
knew the effect that pluck and decision | was sitting in his chair with his pistol in
had on the natives. The regiment was|his hand, instantly and sternly exclaimed,
drawn out: wounded cruelly as I was, I|as he pointed his weapon at the miserable
had to see everything done myself, even to | assassin, * One word more, and I will fire.’
the adjusting the ropes; and saw them | This decisive act settled the affair; not a
looped to run easy. Two of the culprits| voice was heard, and the execution pro-
were paralysed with fear and astonishment, ! ceeded without any further effort to inter-
never dreaming that I should dare to hang . rupt it.”

them without an order from government.| Throughout this extraordinary business,
The third said he would not be hanged, andl nothing appeared at the time upon which
called on the prophet and on his comrades to found suspicion that it was in any
to rescue him. This was an awful moment ;  manner connected with the object for
an instant’s hesitation on my part, and| which the mutineers of the Bengal army
probably I should have had a dozen of were in a state of general revolt; yet as,
balls through me; so I seized a pistol, within two months of the occurrence, the
clapped it to the man’s ear, and said, with | sowars of the Bbth irregular cavalry (to
a look there was no mistake about, ‘ Another | which regiment the assassins belonged)
word out of your mouth, and your brains| broke into mutiny at Bbaugulpore, Deo-
shall be scattered on the ground’ He  ghur, Rhonee, and their other stations, it is
trembled and held his tongue. The elephant | more than probable, that the murderous
cameup; he was put on his back, the rope attack upon their commanding officer and
adjusted, the elephant moved, and he was adjutant, was only part of a more compre-
left dangling. I then had the others up,| hensive design, by which the lives of all the
and off in the same way; and after some | European officers would have been jeo-
time, when I had dismissed the men of the | pardised, but which was happily frustrated
regiment to their lines, and still found my gy the impetuosity and subsequent cow-
head on my shoulders, I really could scarcely | ardice of the miscreants employed to strike
believe it. However, it is now all over. 1|the first blow. At all events, the conduct
have had a sad time of it, and but little|of the regiment was so unexceptionable at
ahle to go through such scenes, for I am |the time, that the confidence of Major
very badly wounded; but, thank God, my| Macdonald in its loyalty was unshaken;
spirits and pluck never left me for a mo-|and to mark his sense of their soldierlike
ment. Grant says I am playing the dickey | behaviour, three of the non-commissioned
with my head, with all this work and| officers were promoted, and rewarded with
bother. Certainly not! any strange officer | handsome gratuities; while, upon his re-
with the men. I’d rather stay and die| commendation, the Woordie major was pre-
here first. There will be no more such|sented by government with a handsome
scenes, depend upon it. You must make|sword and belt, as a token of its approba-
the report to army head-quarters. Ithink|tion. The head-quarters of the regiment
I must come in for fever. Thanks be to| was then removed from Rhonee to Bhau-
God for such a miraculous escape, and|gulpore, where it remained quietly until the !
enabling me to go through all I have done.| period of its mutiny and desertion in the
When you see my poor old head, you will | following August.

416




AD. 1857.]

INDIAN MUTINY.

[ewALIoR.

CHAPTER XXII.

GWALIOR ; RECOGNISED AS A SUBSIDIARY STATE; LOYALTY OF THE MAHARAJAH ; REVOLT OF THE GWA-
LIOR CONTINGENT ; MURDER OF OFFICERS ; FLIGHT OF THE EUROPEAN PAMILIES ; HAZARDOUS FIDELITY
OF SCINDIA ; FUTTEHPORE; EXCITEMENT OF THE POPULACE; DEFENCE AND ESCAPE OF EUROPEANS;
TREACHERY OF A DEPUTY COLLECTOR; MURDER OF MR. TUCKER; BARBAROUS TREATMENT OF HIS
REMAINS ; BANDA ; ARRIVAL OF MUTINEERS OF THE 6TH REGIMENT; THE LIVES OF THE EUROPEANS
DEMANDED ; PROTECTED BY THE RAJAH; ESCAPE TO NAGODE; REVOLT OF THE TROOPS, AND THEIR
REVENGE ; AURUNGABAD; INSPECTION OF THE TROOP8 ; REVOLT OF THE HYDERABAD CONTINGENT;
CAPTAIN ABBOTT'S REPORT § CONCILIATORY MEASURES RECOMMENDED ; ARRIVAL OF GENERAL WOOD-
BURN'S COLUMN ; THE CAVALRY DISARMED ; PLIGHT OF THE EUROPEAN FAMILIES; RARE FIDELITY OF
A MOHAMMEDAN TROOPER; PROGRESS OF THE REBELLION ; CONCESSIONS TO THE NATIVE TROOPS AT
CALCUTTA ; DISAFFECTION AT CUTTACK ; OCCURRENCES AT JUBBULPORE AND NAGPORE; FLIGHT PLu:l
ARRAH; OFFICIAL CORRESPONDENCE; ALARM AT GYA; PRISONERS AT MIDNAPORK; THE PANIC AT

TIRHOOT ; MARTIAL LAW AT SARUN.,

Tre subsidiary state of Gwalior—formerly
an independent principality of Central
India—extends between lat. 21° 27’ N.,
and lon. 74° 79’ E,, and is surrounded by
the Rajpoor, Baroda, Indore, and Bundel-
cund dominions, and the Bengal and
Bombay presidencies. It is now the do-
minion of the Maharajah Scindia, one of
the most faithful and disinterested of our
allies among the native chiefs of the Indian
empire; and had become, early in June,
infected by the malaria of religious ani-
roosity : its subsequent contribution to the
ranks of the rebels and murderers of the
Bengal army was merely a question of
time and opportunity, which at length
arrived.

The celebrated hill fortress of Gwalior,
in the centre of the capital city of the
same name, is situated upon a precipitous
rock, about eighty miles southward from
Agra, and at a short distance from a
branch of the river Jumna. The hill on
which the fortress is built is & mile and
three-quarters in length, rising at its
northern extremity to an elevation of 342
feet: a parapet of stone runs along its
entire length, built close to the edge of the
| rock, the sides of which are almost perpen-
| dicular, and so difficult of scaling, that
. until it was taken by escalade by the troops
. under Major Popham, on the 8rd of August,
1780, it was deemed perfectly impregnable
and secure from assault. The fortress was
i afterwards restored to its native prince;
but, in 1804, it was again surrendered to
the English, to be again relinquished ; and
upon this occurrence, the Mahratta chief,
Scindia, made it his capital and seat of gov-
ernment. The position and natural strength
of this stronghold always rendered it a mili-
tary post of great importance. Under the
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Mogul dynasty it was used as a state prison,
in which obnoxious members of the royal
fami‘liy were imprisoned, tortured, and mur-
dered, as expediency required; and, on
account of its presumed security from the
attack of an enemy, it was also used as a
grand depdt for artillery, ammunition, and
military stores. The town, which surrounds
the fortress, has externally a fine appearance,
with its countless minarets glittering in the
sun, and interspersed with luxuriant trees:
it is unenclosed; but the streets can be
shut by numerous gates, many of which
possess great architectural beauty. The
chief mosque, palace, and buildings within
the citadel, are in the most ancient style of
Hindoo architecture; and a fine tomb of a
Mohammedan saint is erected on the east
side of the city. In the sides of the rock
upon which the fortress of Gwalior is built,
are numerous excavations used as Hindoo
temples, covered with sculptures and inscrip-
tions.

The contest that terminated the inde-
pendence of Gwalior, and eventually pro-
cured its recognition among the subsidiary
states of India, was precipitated by the
feuds and anarchy that had for some time
prevailed among its native chiefs; and as
the British government was bound by treaty
with the late rajah to protect his successor
and preserve his territory undivided, it was
deemed necessary, in 1848, to take mea-
sures for the effectual promotion of those
objects. The then governor-general (Lord
Ellenborough) thereupon directed the neces-
sary advance to be made upon the disturbed
territory ; aud, after a succession of bril-
liant actions, the Mahrattas were finally
defeated by Sir Hugh Gough, at Maharaj-
pore, on the 29th of December, and the

'British troops again became masters of
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. employed; and the resentment felt by
. some few of the troops on account of

. eess was silently and slowly carried om
| without awakening suspicion, until the plot

i from the beginning of the troubles that had
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the fortress and capital of the enemy.
Under the auspices of the victorious gov-
ernment, the infant heir of the deceased
rajah was forthwith installed, with great
ceremony, in the presence of the British
troops; and the state and its sovereign
were alike taken under the protecting care
of the government. By this act, tranquillity
was for a time restored to the whole of our
Indian empire; and the service rendered
to the sovereign of the subdued territory,
was destined to produce results that could
not at the time be contemplated.

The loyalty of the maharajah of Gwalior
had hitherto been tested by acts of the
most unequivocal friendship to the English
authorities; and but one opinion existed
as to the reliance that could be placed upon
his disinterested fidelity, in case an emer-
gency should arise for its further develop-
ment. A trial was, however, before him,
that had there been the slightest wavering
of principle in his mind, might suddenly
have deprived the government of all the
benefit assured to it by an alliance with a
chicf so universally popular as the Maha-
rajah Scindia. The active services this
prince had already rendered by placing
the flower of his troops, including his own
body-guard, at the disposal of the lieu-
tenant-governor of the North-West Pro-
vinces,* had occasioned some murmuring
among the men of his contingent not so

being passed over in the selection for an
honourable service, was soon blown into a
flame of general insubordinatior: and revolt
by the management of emissaries from the
mutineers of the Bengal army. The pro-

was ripe for execution; but the aim was
sure, and success certain, before a blow was
struck.

Nothing had occurred to excite alarm, or
even suspicion of impending evil, at Gwalior,

agitated the adjacent country; and conse-
quently, the European residents at the
capital of Scindia were not prepared for
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